THE ENRON DECISION: CLOSING THE FRAUD-FREE ZONE
ON ERRANT GATEKEEPERS?

By GARY J. AGUIRRE
ABSTRACT

Enron's investment banks, accountants, and lawyers now face
billions in potential liability for allegedly helping Enron construct an 380
billion house of cards. Arthur Andersen, with its $9 billion in annual
revenues, simply vanished after it was caught and convicted for shredding
Enron records. Why were these gatekeepers, either giant financial
institutions or the most sophisticated lawyers and accountants, confident
the securities fraud laws would not apply to them?

Supreme Court decisions from 1974 through 1995 provide an
answer. In 1974, the Supreme Court abruptly reversed a forty-year trend
of federal decisions construing the securities acts consistently with the
intent of the Congress that wrote them. Over the next twenty-one years,
following its own policy star, the Court dismantledthe antifraud provisions
enacted by the 73rd Congress after the 1929 crash to protect investors.
One key decision, Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of
Denver, N.A., eliminated liability for aiding and abetting a violation of
Section 10(b). In doing so, it defined a zone of conduct beyond the reach
of the federal securities acts, a fraud-free zone, where gatekeepers could
earn lucrative fees helping public companies cheat their investors.

Unfortunately for these gatekeepers, the security of their sanctuary
has been placed at risk by the class action against them in the Southern
District of Texas. Worse yet, Judge Melinda Harmon, to whom the case
was assigned, has closed down the fraud-free zone—at least for now. Her
decision, In re Enron Corporation Securities, Derivative & ERISA
Litigation, denying the gatekeepers' motions to dismiss, takes a detour
around Central Bank. But will the detour hold up on appeal? Not likely,
but another legal theory may.

"Formerly a partner in Aguirre & Eckmann, he now has an officein San Diego. Aguirre
received hisLLM (Securities Regulation-International Law) with distinction from Georgetown
University Law Center in October 2003. This article won second place in the Association of
Securities and Exchange Commission Alumni (ASECA) Annual Securities Law Writing
Competition in January 2004. Aguirre thanks Professor Mark Krdtman of Georgetown
University Law Center for hisinsightful feedback on the original concept and first draft and his
encouragement to seek publication of this article.
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|. INTRODUCTION

Some twenty-seven months ago, the nation was blind-sided by a
harsh truth: the capital structure of its seventh largest corporation—
Enron—was a myth. Investors lost nearly $80 billion," but they were not
the only victims. Rank and file Enron employees, prohibited from tapping
retirement accounts, wached sixty percent of their assets vanish, a $1.3
billion loss? There were, however, a few winrers. Enron's top
management siphoned off & least $1.8 billion from bonuses and insider
sales?

Asthedust settled, shock gave way toadisturbingquestion: Whee
werethe gatekeepers? Why did Erron's investment bankers, accountants,
and lawyers fail to detect a fraud of this magnitude and scope and act to
curbit? The answer hassurfaced as fingerprints taken fromthe corpus of
the fraud were matched with those of Enron's investment bankers,

YJoseph Weber et al., Arthur Andersen: How Bad Will It Get? Bus. WK., Dec . 24,
2001, at 30.

2148 Cone. Rec. E18 (Jan. 24, 2002) (statement of Rep. Waters); Jeffrey N. Gordon,
What Enron Means for the M anagement and Control of the Modern Business Corporation:
Some Initial Reflections, 69 U. CHI. L. REv. 1233, 1248 (Summer 2002); Jonathan D. Glater,
Plaintiffs Ask: Just How Deep Are the Pockets at Andersen? N.Y . TIMES, Jan. 24,2002, at C1.

Enroninsidersreceived $1.1 billionfor stock sold from1999 through mid-2001. Leslie
Wayne, Before Debacle, Enron Insiders Cashed in $1.1 Billion in Shares, N.Y .TIMES, Jan. 13,
2002, at A1l. Additionally, Enron paid its senior managers $681 million in bonuses through
December 2, 2001. Kathryn Kranhold & Mitchell Pacelle, Enron Paid Top Managers $681
Million, Even as Stock Slid, WALL St. J., Junel7, 2002 at B1.

4See John C. Cdfee, Jr., Understanding Enron: "It's about the Gatekeepers, Stupid ,"
57 Bus. Law. 1403, 1405 (2002) ("Properly understood, Enronis a demonstration of gatekeeper
failure, and the question it most sharply poses is how this failure should be rectified.").

®See, e.g., Third Interim Report of Neal Batson, Court-Appointed Examiner, Appendix
D (Roleof Citigroup and its Affiliates), U.S. Bankr. Court, S.D.N.Y ., In re Enron, No. 01-16034
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. June 28, 2003), at 148, available at http://www.enron.com/corp/por/
pdfs/examiner3/appendixD.pdf ("The evidence reviewed by the Examiner, and the reasonable
inferences that may be drawn from that evidence, are sufficientfor afact-finder to conclude that
Citigroup aided and abetted certain Enron officers in breaching their fiduciary duties."); Floyd
Norris, Bankrupt Thinking: How the Banks Aided Enron’s DeceptionN.Y . TIMES, Aug. 1, 2003,
at C1.

Mr. Batson's voluminous report [addressing the banks'role in Enron's fraud]

makes it clear that the banks w ere not "looki ng the other way" as Enron misled

investors.They wereinstead dreaming up and selling financial productsto allow

Enrontomislead. Some of those productsappeared to squirm within accounting

rules, but even then the banks found themselves engaging in practices that they

knew should invalidate the accounting.
1d.
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accountants,® and lawyers.” These gatekeepers were not merely asleep at
the switch; rather, each allegedly played a key rde in the fraud itself.?
Senator Levin summed up the evidence taken by the Investigations
Subcommitteeon theinvestment banks' creativerolein Enron'sfraud: "As
disturbing as Enron's own misconduct ig[,] the growing evidence [shows]
that leading U.S. financia institutions not only took part in Enron's
deceptive practices, but at times designed, advanced, and profited from
them."®

The gatekeepers conduct is puzzling. They knew Congressenacted
tough antifraud laws after the market collapse of 1929. They had lawyers
or werelawyersthemselves, steepedin theintricaciesof the securitieslaws,
who monitored the law's pulse—new court decisions, legislative bills, and
SEC administrativeactions. Why would they risk billionsof dollarsindvil
liability to help Enron construct ahouse of cards? The class action against
them offersasimplistic answer: the gatekeepersknowingy broketherules
to pocket hundreds of millions of dollarsin fees.*

°Final Report of Neal Batson, Court-Appointed Examiner, Appendix B (Role of
Andersen), U.S. Bankr. Court, S.D.N.Y., In re Enron, No. 01-16034 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y . Nov. 4,
2003), at 2, available at http://www.enron.com/corp/por/pdfs/examinerfinal/
NBFinal AppendixB1.pdf.

The evidence suggests that, on multiple occasions, Andersen accountants had

actual knowledge of the wrongful conduct giving rise to breaches of fiduciary

duty by Enron officerswith respect to those tran sactions, and gave substantial

assistance to those officers by: (i) approving accounting that made Enron's

financial statements mateially misleading; and (ii) not communicating to the

Audit Committeein accordance with applicable standards.

Id.

See John C. Coffee, Jr., Symposium: Regulating the Lawyer: Past Efforts and Future
Possibilities: The Attorney as Gatekeeper: An Agenda for the SEC, 103 CoLuM.L.Rev. 1293,
1301 (2003) ("Intheir statementsin the Congressional Record, the Senate co-sponsors of section
307 [of the Sarbanes-Ox1ley Act] clearly expressed their view that attorneys were at least as
implicated as auditors and investment barkers in the financial and accounting irregularities that
produced the collapses of Enron . . . .").

8See supra notes 5-7 and infira text accompanying notes 24-62.

°Oversight of Investment Banks' Response to the Lessons of Enron—Vol. 1: Hearing
Beforethe Permanent Subcomm. on Investigations, Senate Comm. on Government Affairs, 107th
Cong. (2002) (statement of Carl Levin, Subcomm. Chair), available at
http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi ?7dbname=107_senate_hearings& docid=f:
83485.wais [hereinafter Hearings on the Lessons of Enron].

WRegents of the University California v. Lay, First Amended Consolidated Complaint
1917,25-26, 70, available athttp://lwww.enronfraud.com/pdf/M A STER1stAmd.pdf [ hereinafter
Enron Class Action Complainf]. The lawsuit, filed as aclass action, was consolidated pursuant
to 28 U.S.C.S. § 1407 (1988), with other litigation in In re Enron Corporation Securities,
Derivative & ERISA Litigation, pending before the United States District Courtfor the Southern
District of Texas, Judge Melinda Harmon presiding. In December 2002, with a few exceptions,
Judge Harmon denied the motions to dismiss brought by Enron's investment banks, attorneys,
accountantsunder Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rulesof Civil Procedure. In re Enron Corp. Sec.,
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This answer makes little sense; it assumes the gatekeepers acted
irrationally. Take Arthur Andersen (Andersen) for example. It foresaw
$100 millionin annual feesfrom Enron.** Y et, that sum isinconsequential
when compared toits $9.34 billionin revenuesfor 2001.> Andersen knew
those revenues could cease and its potential liabilities would be billions
more if its role in the Enron fraud should cometo light. Why would a
company generatingmorethan $9 billion in annual revenuesgambleall for
a$100 million fee?

Logicdictatesthat Andersen did not seetherisk.*® The same seems
equally true for Enron's investment bankers and attorneys. Two theories
could explainwhy. First, the gatekeepers may not have known Enron was
a house of cards and therefore acted innocently in helping Enron
consummaeitsfraud. Alternatively, the gatekeepersmay have knownthe
truth about Enron, but believed they violated no law by providing whatthey
saw as investment banking, legal, and accounting services to Enron.*

Derivative & ERISA Litig. (/n re Enron), 235 F. Supp. 2d 549, 708 (S.D. Tex. 2002). The court
stated its review of allegations in the ariginal class action complaint would be guided by the
following well-established principle: "The district court should consider all allegationsin favor
of the plaintiff and accept as true all well-pleaded facts in the complaint." Id. at 564 n.3.
Accordingly, those same allegations in the amended complaintwill likewise be accepted as fact
in this article.

Y1n re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 673.

2Coffee, supra note 4, at 1406.

BAfter Enron's collapse, Arthur Ander sen engaged inthewhol esal e destruction of Enron-
related documents and e-mails. See Stephan Landsman, Symposium: III. The Jury in Practice:
Death of an Accountant: The Jury Convicts Arthur Andersen of Obstruction of Justice, 78 CHI.-
KENT L. Rev. 1203, 1216 (2003). It was later indicted and convicted, as a company, for
obstruction of justicebased on allegations that it had destroyed Enron-related documents. Id. at
1208, 1218. It seems improbable that Andersen would have generated these documents and e-
mails knowing that it was creating the proof of a securities fraud case against itself.

“One commentator pointed out that Vison & Elkins, Enron's outside attorneys, are
asserting both defenses. Lisa H. Nicholson, 4 Hobson's Choice for Securities Lawyers in the
Post-Enron Environment, 16 GEo. J. LEGAL ETHICcs 91, 98 (2002) ("So far, Vinson & Elkins has
offered a 'we're-just-lawyers-what-do-we-do? defense, coupled with the pleea that, whatever it
did know, it was duty-bound to keep secret."). On the other hand, J.P. Morgan Chase publicly
stated it did not believe it was doing anything wrong when it helped Enron doctor its books. It
agreed, however, to hold itself to a"higher standard" in its settlemert with the SEC. On Juy 29,
2003, The New York Times reported:

Enronliedtoinvestorsaboutitsfinancial condition, butit could not have done
so without active hel p from itsfriendly bankers. And that help constituted fraud.
That was the conclusion reached by the Securities and Exchange Commission

and the Manhattan district attorney as they disclosal settlementsyesterday with

two of the nation's largest financial institutions, J.P. Morgan Chase and

Citigroup.

"If you know," said Stephen Cutler, the S.E.C.'s enforcement director, that

"you are helping a company mislead its investors, then you are in violation of

securities laws."

That is not the way financial institutions have seen it in the past. "Our view
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Assuming arguendo the latter, why would these gatekeepers, with thar
sophisticated securities lawyers on speed dial, believe the securitiesfraud
laws would not apply to them?

Supreme Court decisions from 1974 through 1995 may provide an
answer. In 1974, the Supreme Court abruptly reversed a forty-year trend
of federal decisionsliberally construing theantifraud provisionsto protect
investors.'®>  One key decision, Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First
Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., eliminated liability for aiding andabetting
aviolation of Section 10(b).*® In doing so, it defined azone of conduct
beyond the reach of the antifraud provisions. TheSecond Circuit madethe
zone even safer; it delineated its boundary with abright line” From the
safety of this well-marked zone, investment banks, accountants, and
lawyers could earn large fees helping public companies cheat their
investors, so long as they did not take credit for authoring thelie® In the
shadows of this lucrative zone, a fraud-free zone, Citibank, J.P. Morgan,
Arthur Andersen, and others allegedly nurtured Enron's conversion froma
quasi-viable company to a full-blown Ponzi scheme.™

Unfortunatelyfor Enron's gatekeepers, the security of their sanctuary
has been placed at risk by the class action against them in the Southem

historically," wrote Marc J. Shapiro, vice chairman of J.P. Morgan Chasein a

letter to Robert M. Morgenthau, the Manhattan district attorney, "was that our

clientsand their accountants were responsibl e for the clients' proper accounting

and disclosure of the transactions." Now, he said, hisbank will "hold ourselves

to a higher standard.”
Floyd Norris, 4 Warning Shot to Banks on Role in Others' Fraud, N.Y.TimEs, July 29, 2003, at
C1.

5Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co., 417 U.S. 506 (1974).

16Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S 164
(1994). Although this decision only involved aiding and abetting aviolation of Section 10(b), its
reasoning applies equally to the other antifraud provisions. Congress, however, reinstated the
SEC's power to prosecute civil actions for aiding and abetting violations of the 1934 Act. See
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78t(e) (West 2003).

YWright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998).

®The "bright line" test is one of three tests that the courts have applied in deciding
whether a secondary actor isliable as a"primary violator" under Section 10(b). See Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, 15 US.C.A. 8§ 78j(b) (West 1997). Under the "bright line" test, "the
misrepresentation must be attributed to that specific actor at the time of public dissemination.”
See Wright, 152 F.3d at 175. The "substantial participation' test treatsthe secondary actor as a
primary violator if thereis"substantial participation or intricate involvement" by the actor in the
preparation of fraudulent statements "even though that participation might not lead to the actor's
actual making of thestatements." Howardv. Eveex Sys, Inc.,228 F.3d 1057, 1061 n.5 (9th Cir.
2000). A third test, proposed by the SEC and adopted by In re Enron, treats a secondary actor
as a primary violator if the actar makes a material misrepresentation passed along to investors
even though the actor's identity is not made knownto investors. In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
588-90.

®n re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 617.
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District of Texas.® Worse yet, Judge Melinda Harmon, to whom the case
was assigned, has closed down the fraud-free zone—at least for now. Her
reporteddecision, In re Enron Corporation Securities, Derivative & ERISA
Litigation, denying the gatekeepers motions to dismiss, takes a detour
around Central Bank.** But will the detour hold up on appeal? Not likely,
but another | egal theory may.*

. ENRON'S FRAUD MADE SIMPLE

In principle, Enron's fraud was simple. Enron engaged in phony
transactions with phony affiliates, which it treated as real, to improve its
financial statements.?® Thefinancial statementsweredoctoredintwoways.
First, Enron booked sales and earnings from transacti ons with its phony
affiliates, effectively booking sales and earnings for doing business with
itself.** Second, Enron used phony deals to move debt off its booksonto
its affiliates’ books?® For their part, Enron's investment banks, attor neys
and accountants, allegedly created the phony affiliatesand, using word and
deed, disguised them to appear as independent entities.®

Many of Enron's sham affilides were specid purpose entities
(SPEs).*” Thefirst sham SPE, the pratotype for later ones, began lifeasa
legitimate SPE.?® It was a$500 millionpartnership called "JEDI" between

DSee Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10.

ZSee In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 581-94.

2See infra SectionV.

BSee infra text accompanying notes 24-&2.

#Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, § 11; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
616.

BEnron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 199, 11; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d
at 616.

BEnron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, § 11; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
613-17.

ZIn re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 614-17; William C. Powers, Jr., Report of Investigation
by the Special Investigative Committee of the Board of Directors of Enron Corp. 5, 36-40
(Feb. 1, 2002) (on file with the Delaware Journal of Corporate Law), available at
www.chron.com/c ontent/news/photos/02/0 3/03/enron-power sreport.pdf. In re Enron provides
the following background information on the Special investigation committee and its report:

[ITn October, 2001, Enron's board of directors created a special investigative

committee, composed of anumber of individualswhohad beeninvdvedinsome

way in either creating the partnerships at i ssueor reviewing thetransactions, but

headed by outsider William C. Powers, Jr., dean of the University of Texas

School of Law. The committee performed areview andissued a217-pagereport

(the "Powers' report"), drafted by a former enforcemert director of the SEC,

William McLucas, partner in Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering, in Februay, 2002

In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 660 n.94.
BEnron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10,19; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp.2d at 614.
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Enron and the Cadlifornia Public Employees' Retirement System
(CalPERS).”* Since JEDI qudified as a sepaate entity under generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP),® its operations were not
consolidated into Enron'sfinancial statements. Hence, JEDI's debt did not
show up on Enron's balance shed.* However, Enron's income statement
was improved by its shareof JEDI's profits

All went smoothly for Enron, JEDI, and CalPERS until November
of 1997, when CaPERS decided to sdl its interest in JEDI.*
Unfortunately, there were no legitimate bidders* Enron could not buy out
CalPERSwithout acalamity: JEDI'soperationswould beconsolidated into
Enron's financia statements. This meant Enron would lose forty percent
of its 1997 earnings.®®> Additionally, its balance sheet would be hammered
twice: debt would be increased by $711 million and shareholders' equity
trimmed by $313 million.*®* The combined effect would predictably
disappoint investors, causing the stock to plumme.

Enron, its attorneys, Vinson & Elkins (V&E), and one of Enron's
investment banks, Bardays Bank (Barclays), alegedly hatched a last-
minute plan to preserve JEDI'sappearance, but not its reality, asan entity
separatefrom Enron.*” They created anew SPE, ashamcalled " Chewco"*
to buy out Cal PERS interest in JEDI.* To be treated as alegitimate SPE
under GAAP, and thusa separate entity from Enron, Chewco would have
to satisfy two requirements. First, it could not be controlled directly or

PPowers, supra note 27, & 6.

GAAP is an acronym for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, a body of
accounting standards recognized over timeby thefinancial community. DONALD E.KIESOETAL.,
INTERMEDIATE ACCOUNTING (11th ed. 2004).

SlPowers, supra note 27, at 6; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 614.

%2Powers, supra note 27, at 6; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 614.

Bpowers, supra note 27, at 6; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 19; In re
Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 614.

34Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 10; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
614.

BEnron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 19; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp.2d at 614.

%Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 61; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
614 (consolidating JEDI with Enron would add JEDI's $700 million debt to Enron's balarce
sheets).

S"Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10,1 10; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
614-15. Kirkland & Ellis(K&E), counsel for Chewco, also allegedly participated in the Chewco-
JEDI transaction. Judge Harmon, however, dismissed the only claim against K& E (for allegedly
violating Section 10(b)), observing, "L ead Plaintiff hasnot alleged that Kirkland & Ellisexceeded
activities [that] would be protected by an attorney[-]client rdationship . . .." Id. at 706.

3Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 10; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
614-15.

BEnron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 10; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at
614-15.
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indirectly by Enron. Second, an equityinvestor, al soindependent of Enron,
must put at risk at least three percent of the SPE's capital .*°

Chewco met neither requirement. It was "owned" by a business
partner of an Enron employee** Both the Enron employee and his partner
were paid handsomely for takinginstructions from Enron's chief financial
officer.”” Additionally, only Enron's assets were put at risk when Chewco
bought out CalPERS interest in JEDI. Barclays loaned Chewco $240
millionto makethe purchase, but the repayment of theloan was guaranteed
by Enron.* Likewise, the three percent equity investment in Chewco was
a mirage. Barclays loaned Chewco $11.4 million to meke the equity
investment, but secretly took back $6.58 million from JEDI as a depost
securing the repayment of the loan.** Consequently, the equity-capital
actually at risk was slightly morethan one percent. In short, Chewco was
in reality Enron wearing a mustache. The Chewco-JEDI fiction was the
"template” for countless other SPEsand phony partnerships, which Enron
likewise used to doctor its financial statements.*

The use of SPEs, such as Chewco, caused Enron's financia
statementsto grossly overdate earnings and understate debt from 1997

“Opowers, supra note 27, at 5; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 121; In
re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 614 n.48.

“n re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 614.

According tothe consolidated complaint at275, pursuant to advice from Vinson

& Elkins, Michael Kopper(an Enron employee who worked for Andrew Fastow)

was made manager of Chewco because he w as not a senior officer of Enron and

therefore his role in Chewco would not haveto be disclosed. Vinson & Elkins

prepared the legal documentationfor JEDI and Chewco. On December 12, 1997

Kopper transferred his ownership interest in Chewco to his domestic partner,

William Dodson, in a sham transaction effected solely to make it appear that

Kopper, and through him, Enron, had no formal interest in Chewco.

Id. See Powers, supra note 27, at 1-2, 6-7, 48; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10,
11 10, 438.

“2Powers, supra note 27, at 54 ("From December 1997 through December 2000, K opper
(through the Chewco general partner) was paid approximately $2 million in ‘fees' relating to
Chewco."). "Kopper had invested $125,000 in Chewco in 1997. The repurchase resulted in
Kopper's (and a friend to whom he had transferred part of hisinterest) receiving more than $10
million from Enron." Id. at 8; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 67, 435-436,
828.

“powers, supra note 27, at 49; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 10; In
re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 615.

“pPowers, supra note 27, & 50; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 10; In
re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 615.

“Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 21-24, 659, 662, 728, & 801.
"Chewcobecameatemplatefor subsequent entitiesthat Enron continued to establishinincreasing
numbers and size, all secretly controlled by Enron, which Enron and its banks would use to
generateenormous phony profitsand conceal massivedebt." /n re Enron, 235 F. Supp.2d at 616.
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through 2000.*® Thoserosy financial statementsin turncaused analyststo
rate Enron stock a perpetua "buy."” This house of cards collapsed when
Enron restated its earnings and debt in October and November 2001 for its
fiscal years 1997 through 2000 Debt wasincreased by $2.585 hillion,
while earnings were decreased by $1.048 billion.** Investor confidence
vanished, causing thestock to plummet. Enron filed bankruptcy less than
amonth later.>

Asidefrom Enronitself, three gatekeepers allegedly share credit for
Chewco's rolein cooking Enron'sbooks. V& E, Andersen, and Barclays.*
Allegedly, V&E formed Chewco, falsified loan documents so Chewco
appeared independent from Enron>* structured Chewco's phony deals,
issued "bogus 'true sal€' opnions' on those deals, and drafted the
misleading di sclosures covering these scams usedin Enron's SECfilings.*®
But V& E's participation went beyond Chewco. In Judge Harmon'swords,
V& E "'effected the very' deceptive devices and contrivances that were the
heart of the alleged Ponzi scheme."**

LikeV&E, Andersen allegedly violated Section 10(b) byitsconduct
and itswords. It participated in structuring phony Enron transactions and
SPEs,* including Chewco.®® Andersen also falsely represented in 10Ks,
annua reports, and registration statements*” among other facts, that
"Enron's financial statements were in accordance with GAAP" and
Andersen'saudits"wereperformedinaccordancewith Generally Accepted
Auditing Standards (‘GAAS)."*®

Thethird activeparticipant inthe Chewco-JEDI fraud wasBarclays.
Unlike V&E and Andersen, however, Barclays made no statements to

“Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1161, 126, 164-65; In re Enron, 235
F. Supp. 2dat 632.

“"Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1Y 14, 56, 125, 127-28, 130-31, 150,
152-54, 156-63, 166-86, 190-210, 225-70, 272-76, 281-87, 290-381. One securities analyst,
Credit Suisse First Boston, issued areport rating Enron as a "strong buy" in August 2001. In re
Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 634.

““powers, supra note 27, & 2; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, §3; In re
Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 636.

“powers, supra note 27, & 2-3; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 161; In
re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 626, 636.

In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 637.

®ISee infra text accompanying notes 52-62.

52Powers, supra note 27, & 24-26; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1 22,
800-810; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp.2d at 614-17, 658.

3In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 660-61.

*1d. at 704.

®1d. at 674.

4. at 681-82; Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 1946.

>"Powers, supra note 27, at 24-25; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 674.

8In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 674.
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publicinvestors,” the classic basisfor a Section 10(b) claim.® Instead, In
re Enron applied anovel theory in denying Barclays's motion to dismiss:
Barclays violated Section 10(b) by its decepti ve conduct alone®* On this
point, In re Enron held:

L ead Plaintiff'sallegationsabout Barclays direct invol vement
in the formation and funding of JEDI/Chewao in 1997 are
sufficient by the very nature of the transactions to state a
claim under 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. According to the
complaint Barclays, along with Lay . . . formed Chewco,
which Enron and Barclays controlled, as asham independent
entity to buy a purported independent, outsider's intereg in
JEDI.%

The specific allegations of Barclays's role in forming, funding, and
controlling a sham SPE (Chewco) distinguish the Section 10(b) claim
against Barclays fromthose against Bank of America, Deutsche Bank, and
Lehman, which were all dismissed.®® No other defendant was kept in the
case solely on the basis of thistheory.** Therefore, the allegations against
Barclays are the purest statement, at least in Judge Harmon's view, of how
deceptive conduct may violate Section 10(b).%

Inre Enronisthefirst caseto broadly hold deceptiveconduct in the
purchase or sale of a security violates Section 10(b).*® Previously, the
courts recognized only three narrow theories in which conduct by
itself—without the classi c mi srepresentation or nondi scl osure—constituted
a violation of Section 10(b). One theory permits recovery under the

®See id. at 703.

%0See THOMAS LEE HAZEN, THE LAW OF SECURITIESREGULATION 596 (West Group 4th
ed. 2002).

%n re Enron, 235F. Supp. 2d at 652, 703. In thisarticle, the phrase " deceptive conduct”
meansdeception intheformof acts, i.e., without amisrepresentation or nondisclosure. Likewise,
"deceptive words" means dec eption in the form of a misrepresentation or nondisclosure.

214, at 703 (emphasis added).

%3See id. at 703-04.

Al other gatekegper-defendants, whose motions to dismiss the Section 10(b) claims
weredenied, allegedly mademisstatementsor failed to d sclosematerial facts, in addition to their
deceptive conduct. Id. at 645, 647,649-51, 688, 695, 697, 704, & 706. The court overruled the
motionsof CIBC, Citigroup, J.P. Morgan, Credit Suisse, and Merrill Lynch relying in part on the
allegation that no Chinese wall existed at these investment banks and thus each was liable for
misleading statements made by their analysts in research reports. /d. at 688.

8See In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 703-04, 708.

%7n re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative& ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D. Tex.
2002).



458 DELAWARE JOURNA L OF CORPORATE LAw [Vol. 28

"manipulative . . . device or contrivance" prohibition of Section 10(b)*’
when the wrongdoer misleads "investors by artificially affecting market
activity," for example, by using "wash sales" to run up the stock price®®
Under controlling Supreme Court decisions however, thistheory cannotbe
extended to Barclayss conduct®® The lower federal courts have also
imposed Section 10(b) liability—without a nondisclosure or
mi srepresentati on—on broker-deal ersfor churning ther clients' accounts™
andfor implied representationsunder the"shingetheory."” Neither theory
appliesto Barclays's conduct, sinceit was not acting as abroker-deal er for
Enron investors.”

In re Enron, therefore, extends the reach of Section 10(b)'s
prohibition on deceptiveconduct far beyond its prior boundaries. 1t would
no longer be limited to a singe class of wrongdoers (broker-dealers) for
cheating a single class of victims (their customers). Indeed, In re Enron
extended Barclaysspotential liahility toinjuredinvestorswithwhomit had

5’Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j(b) (West 2003).

%The Supreme Court has repeatedly described manipulation as a "term of art" whose
scope is limited to "practices, such as wash sales, matched orders, or rigged prices, that are
intended to mislead investors by artificially affecting market activity." Schreiber v. Burlington
N.Inc., 472 U.S. 1, 6 (1985); SantaFe Indus., Inc., v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476 (1977); Ernst &
Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 199 (1976); Schreiber further circumscribed manipulation
by holding that it requires "misrepresentation or nondisclosure." Schreiber, 472 U.S. at12.

% Judge Harmon did not rely on the "manipulative . . . devices or contrivances" language
of Section 10(b) in denying the gatekeepers' motions to dismiss. See In re Enron, 235 F. Supp.
2d at 695-708. Her decision explains: Section 10(b) "prohibits only the making of a material
misstatement (or omission) or the commission of a manipulative or deceptive act. Because
'manipulation’ is essentially a limited term of art, the focus in most securities violations is on
deception or misrepresentation.” Id. at 568 n.9. See generally HAZEN, supra note 60, at 561-64
(discussing "concept of manipulation is a narrow one").

See, e.g., Nesbit v. McNeil, 896 F.2d 380, 382 (9th Cir. 1990). HAZEN, supra note 60,
at 846.

"HAZEN, supra note 60, at 831; MARC |. STEINBERG, SECURITIESREGULATION 658-59
(Matthew Bender 3d ed. 1998).

"Barclaysprovided commercial lending and underwriting servicesto Enron. In re Enron,
235 F. Supp. 2d at 703. The underwriting services, however,included no alleged public offering
in the United States. It acted as a "placement agent or reseller" in February 2001 private
placement of Enron notes. Enron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, 148; In re Enron, 235
F. Supp. 2d at 652 n.88. It also underwrote an offering by Yosemite Securities Co. of Enron
linked obligations that were listed on the L uxembourg stock exchange. Enron Class Action
Complaint, supra note 10, 1 641.12; In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 652 n.88. No holder of
either security has asserted a claim against Barclays in the Enron class action. Enron Class
Action Complaint, supra note 10, 11 62-65. Despite identical allegationsthat Deutsche Bank and
Bank of America participated in 2001 private placement, id. Y1 48-49, their motions to dismiss
were both granted. In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 708. Further, in denying Barclays's motion,
the court made no reference to Barclays's involvement in the Luxembourg offering. 7d. at 703.
Hence, Barclays's participation in these two offerings was not the basisforthe denial of itsmotion
to dismiss. Rather, the court denied B arclays's Rule 12(b)6 motion based on its alleged use of
Chewco to doctor Enron's financial statements. Id.
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no prior contact or relationship.” Likewise, In re Enron upheld claims
against V& E, Andersen, Citigroup, and other investment banksbased in
part on their alleged deceptive conduct.” With its holding, especially in
relationto Barclays, In re Enron would elevae deceptive conduct to parity
with deceptive words as a basis for liability under Section 10(b).”

This concept—conduct as fraud— is more easily grasped in a
simpler setting. Tothat end, cons der afake man of thecloth who positions
himself outside a church holding a collection box just beforethe service
begins. He wears a cassock identical to the one worn by the minister who
preaches from the pulpit. He does not utter a word. He smiles and nods
gracioudy as the faithful fill the box with bills. Is his conduct less
fraudulent because no word is spoken? Barclaysallegedy used Chewcoin
much the sameway asthe fake clergyman used the cassock, collection box,
and smile. Both cover the truth with afalse veneer.

"The court summarized the allegations of Barclays's conductthat viol ated Section 10(b)
as follows:

Lead Plaintiff's allegations about Barclays' direct involvement in the formation

and funding of JEDI/Chewco in 1997 are sufficient by the very nature of the

transactions to state a claim under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. According to the

complaint Barclays, along with Lay, Skilling and Fastow, formed Chewco,

which Enron and Barclays controlled, as a sham independent entity to buy a

purported independent, outsider'sinter est in JEDI. B arclays purportedly loaned

Chewco $240 million and morey to the two strawmen, Little River and Big

River, to provide the $11.4 million for the [three percent] equity investment in

Chewco. Inaddition, giving riseto astrong inferenceof scienter that it knew the

transactions were non-arm's length and fraudulent, it demanded that Enron

provide a secret guarantee that it would be repaid and that Chewco would
establish a $6.6 million cash reserve deposit paid to Barclays to insure against

risk of loss. Barclays lent an additional $ 500 million to JEDI in 1998. Its

subsequent loans and lending commitments of over $4 billion and the $1.9

billion [it] raised by underwriting and selling Enron securities give rise to a

strong inference of Barclay's intent to keep thePonzi scheme in operation.

In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 703.

"Liability under Section 10(b) for misleading words requires no prior relationship or
direct contact between wrongdoer and victim. HAZEN, supra note 60, at 574-77; see Blue Chip
Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 745 (1975).

®In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 695-707.
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I11. BIRTH OF THE FRAUD-FREE ZONE:
JupiciaL AcTivisvy GoNE WRONG

A. Supreme Court Decisions Through Affiliated Ute:
Implementing the Will of Congress

Securities fraud was a major cause of the 1929 crash and the
resulting economic crisis—at least in the view o the 73rd Congress. The
Senate Report on the 1933 Securities Act (1933 Act) explained, in words
that ring as true today, how the act was needed to restore investor
confidence by curtailing fraud in the purchase of securities:

The purpose of this bill is to pratect the investing
public. . .. Theam isto prevent further exploitation of the
public by the sale of unsound, fraudulent, and worthless
securities through misrepresentation; to place adequate and
true information before the investor; . . . to restore the
confidence of the prospective investor in his ability to select
sound securities; tobring into productive channel s of industry
and development capital which hasgrown timid to the point
of hoarding; and to aid inproviding employment and restoring
buying and consuming power.”

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (1934 Act) and the 1933 Act
included multiple antifraud provisions.” Of these, several appear by their
text to prohibit Barclays's alleged conduct in using Chewoo to cause false
entriesin Enron's books. Section 17(a)(1) of the 1933 Act, for example,
declares unlawful the use"of any device, scheme, ar artificeto defraud."”
Likewise, the texts of Section 17(a)(3) and Section 10(b) make deceptive
conduct unlawful, even if the defendant acted without scienter.” Finaly,

S, Rep. No. 73-47, at 1 (1933).

""These Sectiors are 88 11,12(2) (now 12(a)(2)), and 17(a) of the 1933 Act, 15U.S.C.A.
§ 77k, | (West 2003) and 15 U.S.C.A. § 77a (West 2003); and §§ 9, 10(b), and 18 of the 1934
Act, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78i, 78j(b) (West 2003), and 15 U.S.C.A. § 78r (West 2003). Asoriginally
enacted, Section 14 of the 1934 Act didnot contain antifraud provisions.

815 U.S.C.A. § 77q(a)(1) (West 2003).

™Section 17(a) of the 1933 Act makes it unlawful for any person in the sale of any
securities:

1. to employ any device, scheme, o artifice to defraud, or

2. to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a
material fact or any omission to state a material fact necessary in order
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
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Section 18(a) of the 1934 Act expressly provides a private civil remedy.
Unigue among express remedies, it reached beyond words to Barclays's
alleged conduct as a "cause" of mideading statements in Enron SEC
filings.®

Presented with this case at any time before1972, the SupremeCourt
would likely have decided Barclayswasliablefor itsaleged role in using
Chewcoto cook Enron'sbooks. Thisseems evident from both the hol dings
and reasoning in the Court's fourteen decisions interpreting the 1933 and
1934 Acts through 1972%

Significantly, twelve of the fourteen appeals were unquegionably
decided in favor of investors. SEC v. Joiner Corp.,** SEC v. Howey Co.,**

they were made, not misleading; or
3. to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.
Id. 8 77q(a)(3).

Section 10(b) makesit unlawful "[t]o use or employ, in connection with the purchase or
sale of any security . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of
such rules and reguations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of invegors." The 1934 Act § 10(b) presenty found at 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j(b) (West 2003).

Rule 10b-5 provides

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any

means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails or of any

facility of any national securities exchange,

a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,

b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to amit to state a
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or

C) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (West 2003).

80Section 18(a) reads:

Any person who shall make or cause to be made any statement in any

application, report, or document filed pursuant to this title or any rule or

regulation thereunder, which statement was at the time and in the light of the
circumstances under which itwas made fal se or misleading with respect to any
material fact, shall beliableto any person (not knowing thatsuch statement was

false or misleading) who, in reliance upon such statement, shall have purchased

or sold a security at a price whichwas affected by suchstatement, for damages

caused by such reliance, unless the person sued shall prove that heacted in good

faith and had no knowledge that such statement was false or misleading. A

person seeking to erforce such liability may sue at law or in equity inany court

of competent jurisdiction.

The 1934 Act § 18(a), presently found at 15 U.S.C.A. 8§ 78r(a) (West 2003).

8See infra text accompanying notes 82-109.

82320 U.S. 344 (1943).

83328 U.S. 293 (1946).
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and Tcherepnin v. Knight®* broadened the definition of "securities,”
extending the act to more investment schemes and thus the antifraud
protections to more investors. SEC v. Ralston Purina Co.* expanded the
meaning of "public offaing,” thereby subjecting more issuers to the
disclosurerequirements of Section 5 of the 1933Act. Wilko v. Swan® held
investorsdid not waive their right to sue broker-deal ersunder the 1933 Act
by signing an agreementcontai ningamandatory arbitration provision. 4.C.
Frost & Co. v. Coeur D'Alene Mines Corp.®” refused to allow an issuer to
assert the 1933 Act as a defense against an investor. Deckert v.
Independence Shares Corp.® allowed an invesor to seek equitable relief
under the 1933 Act, though the Act did not explicitly provide for these
remedies. J.I. Case Co. v. Borak™ first recognized animplied civil remedy
for aviolation of theantifraud provisions. Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite Co.,”
Superintendent of Insurance of New York v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co.,**
Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utahv. United States,> and SEC v. Capital Gains
Research Bureau, Inc.* al liberally construed the antifraud provisionsto
protect investors. Only the narrow hddings in Blau v. Lehman®™ and
Reliance Electric Co. v. Emerson Electric Co.” dealing with the
prohibition of Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act on swing sales, margindly
limitedinvestor protections, if at all *® Indeed, in Reliance Electric Co., the

84389 U.S. 332 (1967).

8346 U.S. 119 (1953).

8346 U.S. 427 (1953).

87312 U.S. 38 (1941).

8311 U.S. 282 (1940).

89377 U.S. 426 (1964).

9396 U.S. 375 (1970).

91404 U.S. 6 (1971).

92406 U.S. 128 (1972).

93375 U.S. 180 (1963).

94368 U.S. 403, 411 (1962).

%404 U.S. 418, 424-25 (1972).

%Unlike its later decisions circumscribing investors antifraud remedies (see infra
Sections 111.F-G), the Court carefully ascertained and then applied Congress's intent in reaching
its holding in both cases. In Blau, the Court declined to extend Section 16(a) liability for "short
swing profits" to parties beyond those designated in the statute, because "the very broadening of
the categories of persons on whom these liabilities are imposed by the language of § 16 (b) was
considered and rejected by Congresswhen it passed the Act." Blau, 368 U.S. at 411. Similarly,
in Reliance Electric Co., the Court reasoned: "But a construction of the term 'at the time of
... sale' that treats two sales as one upon proof of a pre-existing intent by the seller is scarcely
in harmony with the congressional design of predicating liability upon an 'objective measure of
proof." Reliance Elec. Co., 404 U.S. at 424-25 (quating Smdowe v. Delendo Corp., 136 F2d
231, 235 (2d Cir. 1943)).
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Court opined its holding protected the interests of the outside investor,”
"the poor little fellow [who] does not know what he is getting into."*

B. Early Supreme Court Decisions: Barclays Would Be Liable
for its Alleged Role in the Enron Fraud

The Supreme Court's pre-1974 rulings shaped the antifraud
provisionsin two specific ways that validated investors' rightsto recover
against Barclays for its alleged misadventures with Chewco and JEDI.*
First,inJ.I. Case Co. v. Borak,* the Courtimplied a private remedy from
an antifraud provision, though itstext didnot providefor one. Borak found
animplied causeof action for damages existed under Section 14(a) infavor
of stockholders for a deceptive proxy statement.'®* The Court reasoned:

It isfor the federa courts "to adjust their remedies so as to
grant the necessary relief" where federally secured rights are
invaded. "And it is also well settled that wherelegal rights
havebeeninvaded, and afederal statute providesfor ageneral
right to sue for such invasion, federal courts may use any
available remedy to make good the wrong done"**

Borak'sinclusive rational e al so dictated the existence of an implied cause
of action under Section 17(a)."* Indeed, the privateremedy under Section
17(a) was "taken for granted” until 1975.'*

Second, the Supreme Courttacitly approved the extension of liability
tothosewhoaided and abetted violations of Section 10(b).*** Thefirst and
leading case to impose liability for aiding and abetting aviolation of an
antifraud statute was Brennan v. Midwestern United Life Insurance Co.**
Thedistrict court reasoned, "In theabsence of aclear legislative expression

"Reliance Elec. Co., 404 U.S. at437.

1d. at 428 n.2 (quoting from testimony of Thomas Corcoran, Hearingson H.R. 7852 and
H.R. 8720 before the House Canmittee on Intestate and Foreigh Commerce 73d Cong. 85
(1934)).

9See supra text accompanying notes 37-46, 59-62.

100377 U.S. 426 (1964).

174, at 433.

27 (quoting Bell v. Hood, 327 U.S. 678, 684 (1946)).

13See HAZEN, supra note 60, at 682. See supra text accompanying notes 78-79
(analyzing Barclays's conduct under Section 17(a)).

%4 AZEN, supra note 60, at 682 n.15; 6L ouls Loss, SECURITIESREGULATION 3913 (2d
ed. 1969 Supp.).

195See infra text accompanying notes 106-10.

16259 F. Supp. 673 (N.D. Ind. 1966), aff'd, 417 F.2d 147 (7th Cir. 1969), cert. denied,
397 U.S. 989 (1970).



464 DELAWARE JOURNA L OF CORPORATE LAw [Vol. 28

tothecontrary, [ Section 10(b)] must beflexibly applied so asto implement
its policies and purposes."*” For nearly three decades, the circuit courts
consistently held liability extended to those who aided and abetted
violations of Section 10(b).**® The Supreme Court either declined to grant
certiorari to review those decisions or, where it did grant certiorari, left
aiding and abetting liability intact.'®® That pattern continued until 1995
when the Rehnquist majority, appl ying Blue Chip Stamps, axed aiding and
abetting liahility as a bads for violating Section 10(b).**°

C. Blue Chip Stamps: 4 New Court on a New Mission

Affiliated Ute ended an erain 1972.*** That decision would be last
of its kind—interpreting the antifraud statutes to reach conduct of those
cheatinginvestors—for the next thirty years.** The Supreme Court would
not issue another decision favorable for investors, defining the scope of
wrongful conduct under the antifraud provisions, until SEC v. Zandford"*®
in July 2002.

After Affiliated Ute, and beforeitsnext decision, the SupremeCourt
should have warned investors to wear seatbelts. The Court's 180 degree
swing was swift and without warning. In its next decision involving the
antifraud provisions, for example, the Court would overrule atwenty-year
precedent favorableto defrauded investors.** Worseyet, the rate at which
the Court would decide casesinterpreting securitieslegislationwouldmore

9See id. at 680-81.

108+ jkethe Court of Appealsin thiscase, ather federal courtshaveallowed privateaiding
and abetting actions under § 10(b) . . . . Since 1966, numerous courts have taken the same
position." Cent. Bank o Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Derver, N.A, 511 U.S. 164,
169 (1994) (citing Cleary v. Perfectune, Inc., 700 F.2d 774, 777 (1st Cir. 1983); Kerbsv. Fall
River Indus., Inc., 502 F.2d 731, 740 (10th Cir. 1974)).

198 rennan, 259 F. Supp. at 673; Stead v. SEC, 444 F.2d 713 (10th Cir. 1971), cert.
denied, 404 U.S. 1059 (1972); B uttrey v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 410 F.2d
135, 144 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 838 (1969). The SupremeCourt reserved theissuein
Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 379 n.5 (1983), and Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 191-92 n.7 (1976).

WCent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 188-89.

MAffiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972).

N25ee infra text accompanying notes 116-275.

113535 U.S. 813 (2002). This does not include United States v. O'Hagan, 521 U.S. 642
(1997), establishing the misappropriation theory of insidertrading, because no investor-plaintiff
has been able to allege a cause of action on thistheory. See infra notes 269-70.

H45cherk v. Alberto-Culver Co., 417 U.S. 506 (1974).
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than quadruple: from an average of one every thirty-five months (through
1972) to one every eight months (since 1973).'**

In 1975, the Supreme Court first articulated the "policy
considerations” that would supersede all othersin its interpretation of key
provisionsof theantifraud statutes.™® Sometimesthose policieswerestated
explicitly.**” Other times, when neither precedent nor statutory text could
explain the Court's decision, they were implicitly at work.’*®* Before
analyzing those policies and the opinionsthey spawned, the elephantin the
room must be recognized and addressed: what causedthe Court'sdramatic
reversal of direction in the blink of an eye?

That cause was not external to the Court. Congress had enacted no
new legidlation. No chorus of prominent legal scholarswas protesting that
the Supreme Court had misread the intent of the 73rd Congress. To the
contrary, the cause was a predictable and recurring event in the Court's
history. Itsmembership had changed. Justices Rehnquist and Powell had
replaced Justices Black and Harlan in 1972*° This change tipped the
scales against investors. Justices Rehnquist and Powell waould vote as a
bloc in a series of 6-3 and 5-4 dedsions that reshaped the antifraud
provisions over the following twenty years, favorably for those who
committedfraud and unfavorably for thosewhowerevictimized by it. That
voting block would be strengthened as other aging justicesretired over the
following sixteen years.'*

Justice Rehnquist articul ated the new "policy consderations” inhis
first opinioninterpreting securitieslegislation, Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor
Drug Stores, following his appointment to the Court in 1972.*" The case

M5From 1934 through 1972, the Court i ssued fourteen decisionsinterpreting the securities
law as it affected public investors, on average, one new decision every thirty-five months. See
cases cited supra notes 81-98. From 1973 through the present, it issued 46 decisions, on average,
one case every @ght months. These counts donot include decisions that uniquely involve issues
related to the SEC or its powers, e.g., Jones v. SEC, 298 U.S. 1 (1936).

116B|ue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723 (1975).

"See infra text accompanying notes 121,131, 225-27, 233,235-42.

18See infra text accompanying notes 186-223, 226-30, 235-42.

198 ¢th Justices Powell and Rehnquist todk their oath as Supreme Court Justices in
January 1972 (available at http:/www.suprem ecourtus.gov/about/members.pdf), but neither
participated in a decision interpreting the antifraud provisions until 1973 in Kern County Land
Co. v. Occidental Petroleum Corp., 411 U.S. 582 (1973). See Affiliated U te Citizensof Utahv.
United States, 406 U.S. 128, 131 (1972) ("Powell and Rehnquist, JJ., took no part in the
consideration or decision of the case.").

1203y stice Stevens replaced Justice Douglas in 1975; Justice O'Connor replaced Justice
Stewart in 1981; Justice Scaliareplaced Justice B urger in 1986; Justice K ennedy replaced Justice
Powell in 1988; Justice Souter replaced Jugice Brennan in 1990; Justice Thomasreplaced Justice
Marshall in 1991, available at http:/www.supremecourtus.gov/about/members.pdf.

2Blue Chip Stamps, 421 U.S. at 737.
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was an unlikely candidateto be the bearer of the Court's new policies. The
issue was whether an exception should be carved out from the purchaser-
seller requirement of Section 10(b) for a plaintiff who had relied on a
misleading prospectus in deciding to forgo its right to purchase stock
pursuant to a consent decree.!?? The mgjority decided the plaintiff lacked
standing on policy grounds remate from any language in either the statute
or the rule. Thisis puzding. Neithe Section 10(b) nor Rule 10b-5 is
ambiguous on this issue. The texts of both are explicit: no violation
without a "purchase or sale" of a security.’” Hence, Justice Rehnquist's
opinion violated one of his oft stated rules of statutory construction:
"When we find the tems of a statute unambiguous, judicial inquiry is
complete except in rare and exceptional circumstances."*** Why then
would Justice Rehnquist, a believer in the letter of the law, apply "policy
considerations’ tointerpret the only unambiguous element, the purchaseor
sale requirement,””®> of Section 10(b)? A skeptic might offer: an
uncontroversial decision interpreting unambiguous text would be the ideal
messenger to deliver acontroversial change of pdicy. Who would care?
Writing for amajority of six in Blue Chip Stamps, Justice Rehnqui st
expressed deep concern about the proliferation of vexatious litigation in
Section 10(b) cases. Such lawsuits in his opinion raised two concerns:

The first of these concerns is that in the field of federal
securities laws governing disclosure of information even a
complaint which by objective standards may have very little
chance of successat trial hasasttlement valueto the plantiff
out of any proportion to its prospect of successat trial solong
ashemay prevent the suit frombeing resolved against him by
dismissal or summary judgment. The very pendency of the
lawsuit may frustrate or delay normal business activity of the
defendant which is totally unrelated to the lawsuit . . . .

The second ground for fear of vexatiouslitigation isbased on
the concern that, given the generalized contours of li ability,

2214, at 727.

1285ee supra note 79 and accompanying text.

24Demarest v. Manspeaker, 498 U.S. 184, 190 (1991) (opinion by Judge Rehnquist).
Justice Rehnquist also stated the rule this way: "We begin with thefamiliar canon of statutory
construction that the starting point for interpreting a statute is the language of the statuteitself.
Absent aclearly expressed legislative intertion to thecontrary, that languagemust ordinarily be
regarded as conclusive." Consumer Product Safety Comm'n v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 447 U.S.
102,108, (1980); Griffin v. Oceanic Contractors, Inc., 458 U.S. 564, 570 (1982).

2See infra note 153.
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the abolition of the Birnbaum rule would throw open to the
trier of fact many rather hazy issues of historical fact the
proof of which depended almost entirely on oral testimony.*?®

In a sentence, the Rehnquist majority used Blue Chip Stamps to
declare war, in its view, on flimsy lawsuits that were stifling business
activity brought by litigants seeking to extort a settlement. By contrast,
Justice Blackmun, writing for the dissent, saw the Rehnquist opinionas"a
preternatural solicitousness for corporate well-being and a seeming
callousness toward the investing public quite out of keeping . . . with our
own traditions and the intent of the securities laws."**” Although stung by
the sharp dissent,*?® the Rehnquist majority took a bold and extraordinary
step for any court: it substituted its own policy star—to stamp out strike
suits—for the one expressed by Congress—to protect the investor from
fraudulent schemes. Further, it did so needlesdy to support an
interpretation of a statute that was unambiguous onitsface. Thereisonly
one explanation: the majority of the Supreme Court was on its own
mission.

The new policy expressed in Blue Chip Stamps was spun out of thin
air. The majority cited no public or private studies justifying its war on
vexatious lawsuits.*?® There was no survey of Section 10(b) filings, their
success rates in comparison with other cases, or their impact on corporate
America*® Likemagic,Justice Rehnquist found theguiding pdicy hidden
in an obscure sentence in Section 11(e) of the 1933 Act, allowing thetrial
court to require either party to post an undertaking for the payment of
costs.’** This sentence and a similar one in Section 18 of the 1934 Act'*
are the only provisions in the ertire statutory scheme that offer public
companies protection from their investors. Yet, it was from this unlikely
source that Justice Rehnquist found the policy star that would guide the
Court in reshaping the antifraud provisions over the next twenty years.
Justice Rehnquist offered thisrationale in Blue Chip Stamps:

26Blue Chip Stamps, 421 U.S. at 740-43. Birnbaum in the quote above refers to
Birnbaum v. Newport Steel Corp., 193 F.2d 461 (2d Cir. 1952), w hich also held a violation of
Section 10(b) requir es a purchase or sale of a security.

2See Blue Chip Stamps, 421 U.S. at 762 (Blackman, J., dissenting).

%See id. at 760.

1296ee Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723 (1975).

105ee id.

BiSee id. at 740-41.

32| relevant part, Section 18 of the 1934 Act states: "In any such suit the court may, in
its discretion, require an undertaking for the payment of the costs of such suit, and assess
reasonabl e costs, incl uding reason able attorneys fees, against either party litigant." 15U.S.C.A.
§ 78(r) (West 2003).
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Congress itself recognized the potential for nuisance
or "strike" suitsin thistypeof litigation,and in Titlell of the
1934 Act amended § 11 of the 1933 Act to provide that: "In
any suit under this or any other section of this title the court
may, in itsdiscretion, require an undertaking for the payment
of the costs of such suit, including reasonabl e attorney's fees

n133

Senator Fletcher, Chairman of the Senate Banking and
Finance Committee, inintroducingTitle 11 of the 1934 Act on
thefloor of the Senate, stated in explainingthe amendment to
8§ 11 (e): "This amendment is the most important of all.”
Among its purposes was to provide "a defense against
blackmail suits."***

Where Congress in those Sections of the 1933 Act
which expressly conferred a private cause of action for
damages, adopted aprovisionuniformly regarded asdesigned
to deter "strike" or nuisance actions, . . . that fact alone
justifiesour consideration of such potential in determiningthe
limits of the class of plaintiffs who may sue in an action
wholly implied from thelanguage of the 1934 Act*®

In sum, the majority decided it ought to use Blue Chip Stamps to
deter vexatious lawsuits under Section 10(b), an implied private remedy,
because Congress did the same with the express privateremedy it created
in Section 11. In Blue Chip Stamps, however, the Court did not deter
meritless lawsuits in the same way Congress had chosen in Section 11.
With Section 11(e), Congress gave victims of strike suits the right to
recover their costsand attorney fees. With Blue Chip Stamps, the Supreme
Court trimmed the reach of the substantivelaw. Inlater cases, asdiscussed
below, the Court repeatedly sought to stamp out vexatious lawsuits by
circumscribing the reach of the antifraud provisions. Thisislike shooting
the patient to stop the virus.

Stated as a syllogism, Jugice Rehnquist's reasoning reduces to:

133See Blue Chip Stamps, 421 U.S. at 740 (quoting Securities Act of 1933, 15 US.C.A.
§ 77k(e) (West 1997)).

B45ee id. at 740-41 (quating 78 ConG. REC. 8669 (1934)).

15See id. at 741.
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1 Vexatious lawsuits under Section 10(b) are damaging
corporate America;

2. Congress'scurefor vexatious suitsisto make the plaintiff pay
the defendant's costs;

3. Therefore, the reach of Section 10(b) must be restricted by
judicial fiat.

Each component of this syllogsm is flawed.

First, Blue Chip Stamps cites no support for its primary premise:
vexatiouslawsuitsunder Section 10(b) are crippling corporate America'*®
It cited only two law review articlesto support this point.**” Onedealt with
theimpact of civil litigation, includingSection 10(b), on public offerings.**®
Its only hard conclusion: "There is as yet no evidence that increased
liability risks have chilled thewriting of new issues, and this may indicate
that underwriters are not as risk adverseas they are commonly thought to
be."** The second article waswritten by aformer SEC Commissioner who
discussed SEC enforcement proceedings!*® He never mentioned privae
lawsuits, vexatiousor otherwise** Sincethemajor premiseisunsupported
by fact, the syllogism fals.

Likewise, the minor premise (Congress'scurefor vexatious|awsuits
is to make the plaintiff pay costs) has flaws. Pointing to Section 11(e),
Justice Rehnqui st clai msthe 73rd Congress acted to protect business from
strike suits.*** Thisisonly half true. Section 11(e) protects both partiesto
a lawsuit: it applies when either the suit or the defense was without
merit.*** Likewise, the quoteattributed to Senator Fletcher only stateshalf
what he said.*** His complete sentence showed equal concern defendants
would litigate in bad faith. He told the Senate that 11(e) provided "a
defense against blackmal suits as well as a defense against purely
contentious litigation on the part of the defendant."**

13%5ee Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723 (1975).

¥7See id. at 740 (citing James C. Sargent, The SEC and the Individual Investor:
Restoring His Confidence in the Market, 60 VA.L.REv. 553, 562-72 (1974); M ichael P. Dooley,
The Effects of Civil Liability on Investment Banking and the New Issues Market, 58 VA.L.REV.
776, 822-43 (1972)).

1%85ee Dooley, supra notel37.

%974, at 841 n.265.

0sargent, supra note 137, & 553.

sargent, supra note 137.

125ee supra notes 131-35 and accompanying text.

135ee Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77k(e) (West 1997).

14478 Cone. Rec. 8669 (1934).

1514, (emphasis added).
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The most obvious flaw, however, with the syllogism is its
conclusion. Even if the mgjor premise (vexatious 10(b) suits injuring
business) and the minor premise (cure is to make plantiff pay cods) are
presumedtrue, the conclusion (the reach of 10(b) must be restricted) would
be a non sequitur. Instead, the logic didates this condusion: plaintffs
who bring vexatious lawsuits unde Section 10(b) ought to pay the
defendants costs. Thus, in Blue Chip Stamps, the court should have
implied aremedy allowing the victimized defendant to recover costs, just
asthe Court implied a " statute of limitations" and aright tocontribution in
10(b) actions.**®

D. Supreme Court Decisions after Affiliated Ute:
Is There a Rationale? No, There Are Two

Asdeveloped above, the Supreme Court chose Blue Chip Stamps to
announce its new "policy considerations,” largely whipped up aut of thin
air. Over the next twenty years, the Court would substituteits own policy,
to stamp out strike suits, for Congress's policy, to protect investors. One
commentator, searching for athemeinthe Court's application of Blue Chip
Stamps in subsequent cases, offered thisinsight: the "common theme [of
the cases] seemed to be that plaintiffs always lost."**’

The Court, however, did not apply its new policy considerations to
every case involving the interpretation of the antifraud provisions. It was
applied to anarrow but critical band of issues: wasthe defendant'sconduct
within the reach of the antifraud provisions? If the case raised that issue,
it got the Blue Chip Stamps treatment.**® |f the caseraised adifferent issue,
for example, whether the plaintiff relied on a misstatement, the Court
behaved like an appellate court; it searched for and then applied the
expressed will of Congress.**

The Rehnquist majority never acknowledged its two-tier approach
in exactly these words, but it came close. After twenty years of decisions
interpreting the antifraud provisions, the Rehnquist majority admitted in
Central Bank that it was applying two standards. The Court explained, "In
our casesaddressing § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, we have confronted two main

1“6Musick, Peeler, & Garrett v. Employers Ins. of Wausau, 508 U.S. 286, 297 (1993)
(holding defendantsin a 10b-5 action have aright to contribution); Lampf v. Gilbertsan, 501 U.S.
350, 362-64 (1991) (holding that suits brought pursuant to § 10b and rule 10b-5 "must be
commenced within oneyear after the discovery of facts constituting a violation and within three
years after such violation").

1’"RoBERT CHARLES CLARK, CORPORATE LAw § 8.10.1, at 316 (1986).

“8See infra Sectiors |11 F.-G.

9See infra Section 11I.E.
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issues. First, we have determined the scope of conduct prohibited by §
10(b) . . . ."*® Regarding these cases, the Caurt continued, "[T]he text of
the statute controls our decision."*** This comment is meaningless. The
text of Section 10(b) isambiguous® at best in stating, much less defining,
the elements required for itsviolation, with the exception of "purchaseor
sale."*** Accordingly, when the Caurt confronted what it called a " scope
of conduct" issue, whether Section 10(b) reached the wrongdoer's act, it
pulled Blue Chip Stamps off the shelf and then applied its own "policy
considerations.”

The Court also described a second standard that it applied when the
issue on appeal did not involve the defendant's conduct:

Second, in cases where the defendant has committed a
violation of § 10(b), we have decided questions about the
elements of the 10b-5 private liability scheme: for example,
whether thereisaright to contribution. . . . Th[ig] latter issue,
determining the elements of the 10b-5 private liahility
scheme, has posed difficulty because Congress did not create
a private 8 10(b) cause of attion and had no occasion to
provide guidance about the elements of a private liability
scheme. We thus have had "toinfer how the 1934 Congress
would have addressed the issue[s] had the 10b-5 action been
included as an express provision in the 1934 Act."***

Tosum up, theCourt applied itsown "policy considerations," aimed
at curbing strike suits, when the issue on review involved the reach of the
antifraud provisions to the alleged wrongdoer's conduct. On all other
issues, the Court found and applied Congresss intent in resolving
ambiguities and filling gaps in securities legidation. The Court's
applications of these two divergent, if not conflicting, approaches to
interpreting securities legidation are analyzed separately below.

10Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 172 (emphasis added).

Blqd. at 172-73.

132SECv. Zandford, 535 U.S. 819, 819 (2002) (" This interpretation of the ambiguoustext
of §10(b) . . . isentitled to deference .. . .").

153Compare the vague language of Section 10(b) (see supra text accampanyingnote 79)
with the specific elements established by case law for its violation, including scienter, reliance,
and materiality. HAZEN, supra note 60, & 574-77.

¥4Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 172-73.
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E. Sculpting the Court's Decisions to Reveal the Policy Within

Michelangelo believed he only had to remove the outer layer from
the block of stone to reveal the sculpture that lived inside. Using this
process on Supreme Court securities dedsions also reveal s the sculpture
inside. The uncut block of stone includes all securitiescases after 1973.
Our chisel removeslayer by layer those caseswheretheCourt did not apply
Blue Chip Stamps. Whenfinished, the processreveal sthe scul ptureinside:
cases brought by private investors seeking to bring the conduct of a
wrongdoer within the scope of the antifraud provisions. How the chipsand
sculpture were treated by the Supreme Court are the subject of this
subsection (chips) and the next subsection (scul pture).

Thechisel first chipsaway casesinvolvingissuesuniqueto the SEC:
whether notice must be givento targets of SEC investigations™ theburden
of proof on review for SEC administrative proceedings'*® and the
maximum period the SEC may suspend trading.**" In each case, theCourt
shelved Blue Chip Stamps's'policy considerations' stamping out strike
suits, becausethe SEC doesnot bring them. Instead, it dutifully ascertained
Congress's intent from the Congressional Record and other sources and
then applied it in deciding each case™®

The chisel next chips away cases involving the verboten
issue—whether theantifraud provisionsreachawrongdoer'sconduct. Why
the verboten issue? With absolute consistency, from 1974 until 2002, the
Court declined to extend the reach of Section 10(b) to a wrongdoer's
conduct where a private investor had been damaged.”™ The Court,
however, embraced thisissue—whether the antifraud provisions reach the
wrongdoer's specific conduct—when its decision could not serve as a
precedent for investors. That was the outcome in United States v.
Naftalin,**® where the Court extended Section 17(a) to pratect defrauded
brokers, who were not investors. The Court frequently dted the
Congressional Record to esteblish legislative intent, much the sameway it
had done during the thirty-eight yearsfollowing the stat ute's enactment.*®*
The decision does not violatethe Blue Chip Stamps' policy of stamping out
strike suits; broker-dealers, like the SEC, do not bring strike suits against
themselvesor their corparate clients. For the same reason, the Court again

1%5See SEC v. Jerry T. O'Brien, Inc., 467 U.S. 735, 741-42 (1984).

1%6steadman v. SEC, 450 U.S. 91 (1981).

’SEC v. Sloan , 436 U.S. 103 (1978).

%8See O'Brien, 467 U.S. at 746-47; Steadman, 450 U.S. at 100; Sloan , 436 U.S. at 119.
9See infra Sections 111 F.-G.

160441 U.S. 768 (1979).

¥lSee id.
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shelved Blue Chip Stamps when it applied Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act
to swing sales in two cases.*®® These decisi ons could not promote strike
suits, and indeed have not, since the recovery must go to the corporation,
not to the plairtiff-sharehdder.

The chisel next chips away decisions where the Court decided
whether a particular investment was a "security." These decisions are
double-edged; liberally construing "security” to include an investment
incidentally extendsthereach of the antifraud provi sions. Fromthe Court's
perspective, thiscould encourage strike suits. On the other hand, narrowly
defining "security" limits the reach of the entire 1933 and 1934 Acts,
including theregistration requirementsfor public offerings (1933Act), the
periodicfiling requirements (1934 Act), and the SEC'sjurisdiction. Faced
withthisHobson's choi ce—extendingthe reach of the antifraud provisions
or narrowing the application of both acts—the Court chose the former *%®
It interpreted "security” consistently with the purpose of bath acts, rather
than narrowly to stamp out strike suits'®* Hence, the Court found it
prudent to decidefiveappeal swithout regardto the" pdicy considerations'
stated in Blue Chip Stamps.*® Indeed, the Court liberally construed
"security” intwo decisions, Landreth Timber Co. v. Landreth*®® and Reves
v. Ernst & Young,'®" thereby extending the reach of both acts, including
their antifraud provisions.**®

The chisel finally chips away cases with a hodgepodge of central
issues, al of which the Court decided without the aid of Blue Chip Stamps.
The Court held: a defendant in a 10(b) action may seek contribution;**®
Section 11 of the 1933 Act and Section 10(b) are not mutually exclusive
remedies;*”° the burden of proof for an investor is preponderance of the

1%2Gollust v. Mendell, 501 U.S. 115 (1991); Kern County Land Co. v. Occidental
Petroleum Corp., 411 U.S. 582 (1973). Againin Gollust, the Court applied legislative intent to
decide for the plaintiff. Gollust, 501 U.S. at 121-28.

1835ee infra text accompanying notes 165-67.

4See id.

1%Revesv. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56 (1990); Landreth Timber Co.v. Landreth, 471
U.S. 681 (1985); Marine Bank v. Weaver, 455 U.S.551 (1982); International Bhd. of Teamsters
v. Daniel, 439 U.S. 551 (1979); United Housing Found., Inc. v. Forman, 421 U.S. 837 (1975).

186471 U.S. 681, 688-96 (1985) (holding that the sale of carporate stock is the sale of a
"security").

157494 U.S. 56, 73 (1990) (concluding that demand rotes issued by a co-op are a
"security").

1%8See infra text accompanying notes 270-72 for discussion of Wharf (Holdings) Ltd. v.
United International Holdings, Inc.,532 U.S. 588 (2001), wherethe Court held an oral agreement
granting an option was a "security."

¥Musick, Peeler & Garrett v. Employers Ins. of Wausau, 508 U.S. 286, 297 (1993).

Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387 (1983).
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evidence;' reliance may be proved by the fraud-on-the-market theory;*"
the in pari delicto doctrine may not impede enforcement of the antifraud
provisions;'”® Section 10(b) hasthe same limitations period as the express
civil remedies;'”* and, finally, an investor's damages are not offset by tax
benefits.”> Remarkably, with the exception of the statute of limitations, all
holdings favored investors. What rationale wasat work? The Court later
explained: in deciding casesthat did not involve the defendant's conduct,
it sought to ascertain "how the 1934 Congress would have addressed the
issugls]."*"® Thiswasthe Court'sway of saying Blue Chip Stampsdid not
dictate the result.

Tosumup, the Court shel veditsown pet " policy considerations' and
dutifully applied Congress'sintent in deciding caseswherethe central issue
involved only the SEC, non-investor-clams, the burden of proof,
exclusivity of remedies, reliance, damages, or defenses. Thesecasesareall
thechips. Onlythe sculptureremains: cases brought by a private investor
contending the defendant's conduct comes within the scope of the antifraud
provisions. Asdiscussed next, al these cases got Blue-Chip-Stamped.

F. Fraud-Free Zone, Phase I: Getting "Blue-Chip-Stamped'

Although Central Bank cut the ribbon to open the fraud-free zone,
it does not deserve full credit or blame for the zone's creation.*”” By the
time the Court decided Central Bank in 1994, Blue Chip Stamps had
whittled away the antifraud provisions for twenty years.'”® Section 10(b)
wasthelast warrior standing but not thewarrior it wastwenty yearsearlier.
When Central Bank crippled the reach of Section 10(b) to third party
participantsin securities fraud, gatekeepers were given the green light to
enter the fraud-free zone. It was open for business.

Section 10(b) stood alonein1994, because the Court had eliminated
or incapacitated its fellow warriors one-by-one. One giant to fall was
Section 17(a) of the 1933 Act. That sectiondid not expressly provide for
civil liability, but its three prongs had been the basisfor implied private

Y74, at 390.

2Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 247 (1988).

13Bateman Eichler, Hill Richards, Inc. v. Berner, 472 U.S. 299, 318-19 (1985).
4_ampf v. Gilbertson, 501 U.S. 350, 362 (1991).

1Randall v. Loftsgaarden, 478 U.S. 647, 660 (1986).

Y%Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 173.

WSee id.

8See infra text accompanying notes 179-247.
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remedies for thirty years!” The Southern District of New York first
implied acivil remedy under Section 17(a) in 1949.'*° With the Supreme
Court's Borak decision in 1964, it blessed the legal principle upon which
liability rested.”®™ Liability under Section 17(a) was then "taken for
granted."'®

Thelegal principlessupportingcivil liability under Section 17(a) fell
out of favor with the Court's 5-4 decision in Transamerica Mortgage
Advisors, Inc. v. Lewis."® The thin majority put aside its unanimous
holding in Borak with this terse comment:

While some opinions of the Court have placed considerable
emphasis upon the desirability of implying private rights of
action in order to provide remediesthought to effectuate the
purposes of agiven statute, e.g.,J.I. Case Co. v. Borak, . . .
what must ultimately be detemined is whether Congress
intended to create the pri vate remedy asserted, as our recent
decisions have made clear.'®

In Transamerica, the Court held no implied cause of action existed for a
violation of Section 206 of the Investment AdvisersActof 1940."*> Section
206 issimilar in content and form to Section 17(a). Hence, Transamerica
undercut Borak andimplied nocivil liability existed under Section 17(a).**°
Landry v. All America Assurance Co. sounded the death knell for Section
17(a) in the Fifth Circuit, where the class action against Enron's

®0shorne v. Mallory, 86 F. Supp. 869, 879 (S.D.N.Y. 1949) See infra text
accompanying notes180-83

¥The court reasoned:

Even though there is no specific section of the 1933 Act creating liability under

[Section] 17 other than the language of [Section] 17 itself, orin the 1934 Act in

relationto [Section] 10(b) of that Act other than the language of [Section] 10(b)

itself, nevertheless it has been held that a civil liability isimplied and aremedy

isavailable under the Acts for violations of their provisions, and that an action

may be brought in the appropriate courts to enfor ce that liability.
Osborne, 86 F. Supp. at 879.

1Blgee J.I. Case Co. v. Borak, 377 U.S. 426 (1964).

182HAzEN, supra note 60, at 682 (quoting Loss, supra note 104, at 3913).

188444 U.S. 11 (1979).

®iSee id. at 15-16.

8See id. at 24.

183ection 206 mak es it unlawf ul for any investment adviser "to employ any device,
schemeor artificeto defraud . . . [or] to engage in ary transaction, practice, or course of business
which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or prospective client." Id. at 16 (quoting 15
U.S.C. 88 80(b) to 80b-6(1)(2)).
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gatekeepersis now pending.*®” Likewise, relying on Transamerica, other
circuits courts "have denied the existence of a private remedy under
[Slection 17(a)."*®® Transamerica therefore resulted in the elimination of
Section 17(a)'sthree theoriesof civil liability against Enron's gatekeepers.
A side-by-side comparison o Transamerica with Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. Curran,*®® reveals the silent hand of Blue
Chip Stamps a work. In both cases, the Court considered whether
Congresshad intendedto create aprivate cause of action, despiteitsfailure
to expressly providefor one.**® Asnoted in the dissent in Curran, the key
operative language in both statuteswas simila.** Contrary to the holding
in Transamerica, the 5-4 majority in Curran held private causes of action
existed under the Commodities Exchange Act for fraud or market
manipulation.**> Themajority, after considering the Congressional Record,
concluded that Congress had intended to create aprivate remedy,™*® while
the dissent concluded exactly the opposite!**
Theseconflictinginterpretationsof similar statutory language by the
majority and dissent inthe 5-4 Transamerica decision (finding noimplied
civil action) and 5-4 Curran decision (finding an implied civil action)
reveal more about the judicial politics of the Court than the intent of
Congress. Some other factor was at work. One unstated dynamic might
account for the seemingly contradictory results. Blue Chip Stamps was
concerned with strike suits, especially in theform of classactions.® There
are only three reported decisions of class actions brought under the
Commodities Exchange Act and none were ever certified.'®® Hence,

87_andry v. All AmericaAssurance Co., 688 F.2d 381 (5th Cir. 1982); /n re Enron Corp.
Sec., Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D. Tex. 2002).

188 A ZEN, supra note 60, at 683. In Touche Ross & Co.v. Redington, 442 U.S. 560
(1979), the Court concluded on similar grounds that no private cause of action existed under
Section 17(a) of the 1934 Act.

189456 U.S. 353 (1982).

195ee Transamerica Mortgage Advisors, Inc. v. Lewis, 444 U.S. 11 (1979); Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. Curran, 456 U.S. 353 (1982).

1 Justice Powell wrate: " Sections 4aand 4b [of the Commodity Exchange Act of 1936]
are similar to § 206 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940. . . . We have held explicitly that the
language of § 206 does not create an implied damages action." Merrill Lynch, 456 U.S. at 397
(citing Transamerica, 444 U.S. at 16 n.6, 24).

1%2See id. at 394-95.

193Id.

%474, at 408.

1%Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 758 (1975).

196Class action never certified by district court, Lopez v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 805
F.2d 880, 882 n.3 (9th Cir. 1986); denial of classaction motions, Cohen v. Dean Witter Reynolds,
Inc.,No. 79 Civ. 212, 1986 U.S. Dist. LEX1S 27433, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 1986); and Molis
v. P.G. Commodities Assoc., Inc., No. 77 Civ. 1002, 1978 U.S. Dist. LEX1S19739 (S.D.N.Y.
Feb. 3, 1978).
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finding an implied private cause of action under the Commodities
Exchange Act does not violate Blue Chip Stamps' "policy considerations."

The Supreme Court played no favoritesasit dismantled the antifraud
protections. The express remedies enacted by the 73rd Congress got the
same treatment as the implied ones. Section 12(a)(2)"" of the 1933 Act
expressly imposed civil liability on the seller of securitiesfor amisieading
"prospectus or oral statement."*® Section 2(a)(10)**° of the same Act
broadly defined "prospectus’ to include any written communication.®
Hence, on itsface, Section 12(a)(2) would apply to the sale of ten million
sharesin apublic offering or the sale of 100 sharesin the secondary market
years later.

The Rehnquist majority trimmed and then severed the reach of
Section 12(a)(2). First, the Court tightly defined "seller” in Pinter v.
Dahl,*** thereby narrowing the class of wrongdoers liable under Section
12(a)(2). Pinter wasfollowed by Gustafson v. Alloyd Co.,”” adecisionthat
uniformly left legal scholars and securities practitioners scratching their
headsin disbelief > Inthis5-4 decision, the Caurt ignored the explicit and
broad statutory definition of "praspectus” in Sedion 2(a)(10), preferringits
own narrower one.** Accordingto the Court, "prospectus’ in the context
of Section 12(a)(2) meant only written statements used in public
offerings?® This eliminated private placements and secondary market
sales from the reach of Section 12(a)(2).?® Turning its back on the
investor, the Court yet again restricted the reach of an antifraud provision
to the wrongdoer's conduct. Gustafson also gave scurities practitioners
and scholars this anomaly to think about: "prospectus’ has the broad
statutory definitionin deciding civil liability under Section 12(a) for failure

¥Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.CA. § 77 (West 1997).

1%8See id. 8 771(2).

19974, § 770b(a)(10).

200[d'

201486 U.S. 622, 650 (1988).

22513 U.S. 561 (1995).

23'This holding was contrary to the understanding of almost all securiies law
practitioners and scholarly commentators over the years." RoBERT J. HAFT, LIABILITY OF
ATTORNEYSAND ACCOUNTANTS FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS § 2:5 (Thomson West 2002-
2003 ed.). "A number of questions survive the Court's rather strained reading [in Gustafson] of
the 1933 Act." HAZEN, supra note 60, & 377.

24Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 576, 584.

2051d.

26See id.
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to register securities,®” but avery narrow one indeciding civil liability for
securities fraud under the same section?*®

In another 54 decisionin1974, Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co.,** the
Court held arbitration clauses were enforceable in agreements between
broker-dealers and their customers?'® Since these agreementscommonly
contain arbitration provisions, investors lost their right to sue broker-
dealersinfederal district courtsfor violations of theantifraud provisions**
Scherk impliedly overruled a precedent the Court set twenty-one years
earlier in Wilko v. Swan®? Wilko held arbitration clauses were
unenforceable under Section 14 of the 1933 Act, which voided any
"stipulation” waiving caompliance with any provision of the 1933 Act.?*®
Wilko reasoned the arbitration process would in practice allow the
substantive provisions of the Act to be ignored:

This case requires subjective findings on the purpose and
knowledge of an alleged violator of the Act. They must be
not only determined but applied by the arbitrators without
judicial instruction on the law. Astheir award may be mede
without explanation of their reasons and without a complete
record of their proceedings, thearbitrators conception of the
legal meaning of such statutory requirements as "burden of
proof," "reasonable care" or "material fact" . . . cannot be
examined. Power to vacate anaward is limited.**

Theseconcernswerejust asreal when Scherk wasdecided in 1974. Scherk
stretched to distinguish Wilko withthisweak rationale: "crucial differences
[existed] between the agreement invdved in Wilko and the one signed by
the parties [in Scherk]."?*> Showing less pretext, the Court continued to
narrow Wilko,*® before flatly overruling it in 1989.*'

27section 12(a)(1) of the 1933 Act subjects any person who violates Section 5 to strict
liability. See HAZEN, supra note 60, at 344. Section 5 uses the broad statutory definition of
Section 2(a)(10). Id. at 100.

2OBGustafson, 513 U.S. at576.

29417 U.S. 506 (1974).

2974, at 519-20.

MSee id. at 515-20.

212346 U.S. 427, 438 (1953).

3Gee id. at 434-38.

24See id. at 435-36.

#A5Scherk, 417 U.S. at515.

Z8See Shearson/American Express Inc. v. McMahon, 482 U.S. 220 (1987) (stating
arbitration provisionin Wilko was"unenforceabl eonly becausearbitration w asjudged inadequate
to enforce the statutory rights created by § 12(2)").

2"Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express, Inc.,490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989).
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The Supreme Court also allowed the lower courts to emasculate
another key antifraud provision Section 18 of the 1934 Ad paints
fraudulent conduct with awider brush than any other civil liability section
in either the 1933 or 1934 Act: it imposes liability on those who cause a
misleading statement in any document filed with the SEC under the 1934
Act or itsregulations, for example, 10Ks and 10Qs.**® Put differently, it
reaches conduct. Its key language reads:

Any person who shall make or cause to be made any
statement in any . . . document filed pursuant to this. .. title
[with the SEC], which statement was. . . false or misleading
with respect to any material fact, shall beliableto any person

. who, in reliance upon such statement, shall have
purchased or sold a security . .. 2

The lower courts rendered Section 18 toothless by holding its reliance
reguirement could only be satisfied if the investor actualy "eyeballs' the
SEC filing, e.g., literally reads the 10K>* The Supreme Court has
consistently denied certiorari in cases raising Section 18 issues”* If the
reliance element of Section 18 could be established by the "fraud-on-the-
market theory," as it may be with Section 10(b),?* Section 18 would
literally apply to Barclays'salleged use of Chewco to doctor Enron's books.

Finally, the Court narrowed the el ements and tightened the proof for
establishing a violation of Section 10(b), the culprit most responsible for
strike suits in the view of the Rehnquist majority. Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder held claims under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 require
scienter® The majority employed a unique principle o statutory
construction: it inferred the element of scienter from Congress'ssilence.
The rationale was stated with this convoluted sentence: "There is no
indication, however, that 8§ 10(b) wasintended to proscribe conduct not

28See Securities Exchange Act of 1934, § 18a Commerce and Trade, Liability for
Misleading Statements, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78r(a) (West 2003).

A95ee id. (emphasis added).

20Rossv. A.H. RobinsCo., 607 F.2d 545 (2d Cir.1979); Heitv. Weitzen, 402 F.2d 909,
916 (2d Cir. 1968); Berman v. RichfordIndus, Inc.,26 Fed. R. Serv. 2d10, 16 (S.D.N.Y. 1978)
("Section 18(a) has been construed as requiring direct or 'eyeball’ reliance, which means that
plaintiff must ave that he personally reviewed and was induced to act upon specific
misrepresentations contained in documents filedwith the SEC . . . .").

221Ross v. A.H. Robins Co., 607 F.2d 545 (2d Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 1946
(1980); Heit v. Weitzen, 402 F.2d 909 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 903 (1969).

2225¢¢ Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224 (1988).

2Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 202 (1976).
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involving scienter."?* Thus, the element of scienter wasadded to Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by judicial fiat. The dissent linked the holding back
to Blue Chip Stamps:

Once again—see Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Store . . .
the Court interprets 8 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. .. and the Securitiesand Exchange Commission'sRule
10b-5 . . . restrictively and narrowly and thereby stultifies
recovery for the victim. This time the Court does so by
confining the statute and the Rule to situations where the
defendant has "scienter,” that is, the "intent to deceive,
manipulate, or defraud."**

Only four years later in Aaron v. SEC, the Court concluded
subsections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3), nearly identical to subsections 10b-5(b)
and 10b-5(c), only required proof of negligence in SEC civil actions?*
Although the Court offered its own rationale why it interpreted similar
language™’ to have opposite meanings in Hochfelder and Aaron,”® these
conflicting decisions also suggest Blue Chip Stamps was silently at work.
Lowering the mental element from scienter to negigence for the SEC to
establish a violation of Section 17(a) does not encourage strike suits
because the SEC does not bring them.

Two other decisions made it tougher to prove an actionable
mi srepresentati onor disclosureunder all theantifraud provisions, including
Section 10(b). 7SC Industries, Inc., v. Northway, Inc. raised the bar for
proving when a fact is "material."** Under the former standard, the fact
was"material” if areasonableinvestor "might" consider it important to the
decision.?®® Under the new standard, the fact must have a "substantial
likelihood" of havingthe same effect.*' Similarly, Virginia Bankshares,
Inc. v. Sandberg tightened the proof for establishing a misstatement of

24See id.

See id. at 215-16.

26paron v. SEC, 446 U .S. 680 (1980).

2TSee supra note 79. Rule 10b-5(b) and (c) are almost identical to subsections 17(a) (2)
and 17(a)(3). The primary difference between the texts of therule and the section is that Rule
10b-5 protects both buyers and sellers, while Section 17(a) only protects buyers.

28In Aaron, the Court obsarved, " Thelanguage of § 17(a)strongly suggeststhat Congress
contemplated a sciente requirement under § 17(a)(1), but not under § 17(a)(2) or § 17(a)(3)."
1d. at 685-86. On the other hand, the Court explained thescope of Rule 10b- 5 waslimited by the
text of Section 10(b), which it interpreted to require scienter. See id. at 690-91.

29TSC Indus., Inc., v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 448-49 (1976).

#0See id. at 449.

BlSee id.
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intention or opinion.*** The Court went beyond the substantive law to
prescribe the evidence the trial court could consider on this issue.
Misstatementsof intentions or opinions may be established by "matters of
corporaterecord subject to documentation, to be supported or attacked by
evidence of historical fact outside a plaintiff's control."** Limiting the
nature of the evidence to prove fraud, according to the Court, was once
again necessary to prevent "just the sort of strike suits and attrition by
discovery that Blue Chip Stamps sought to discourage."***

With a one-two punch, the Court al but eliminated "manipulative"
conduct asan independent basisfor violating Section 10(b) and 14(e) of the
1934 Acts. Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green implied "manipulative"
conduct must also be deceptive to violate Section 10(b)'s prohibition on
"manipul ati ve or deceptive' conduct.?*®> Schreiber v. Burlington Northern,
Inc. took Santa Fe one step further: it expressly held a"manipulative" act
must also be " deceptive" to vidate Section 14(e).>*® Both casesinterpreted
"manipulative” in the phrase "manipulative or deceptive" as if it read
"manipulative and deceptive."**

In Santa Fe, the mgjority stockholder bought out the minority's
holdings pursuant to Delaware's short-form merger statute.?*® Theminority
sued under Section 10(b), alleging the majarity had breached a fiduciary
duty by setting the cash-out price too low, but failed to allege any
deception. The Court heldthe breach of afiduciary duty, inthe absence of
deception, did not violate either prong of Section 10(b)'s prohibition on

Z2V/irginia Bankshares, Inc. v. Sandberg, 501 U.S. 1083, 1092 (1991).
Z3See id.
#See id. at 1096.
235430 U.S. 462, 475 (1977).
26472 U.S. 1 (1985).
Z7See HAZEN, supra note 60, at 564 (The Court in Schreiber "ignored the plain meaning
of the statute and its use of a disjunctive 'or.™).
28Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 465-66.
[Section] 253 of the Ddaware CorporationLaw [DeL. Cobe ANN. tit. 8, 8 253
(2002)], known as the "short-form merger" statute . . . permits a parent
corporation owning at least 90% of the stock of a subsidiary to merge with that
subsidiary, upon approval by the parents board o directors, and to make
payment in cash for the shares of the minority stockholders. Thestatute doesnot
require the consent of, or advance notice to, the minority stockholders.
However, notice of the merger must begiven within 10 days after its effective
date, and any stockholder who is dissatisfied with theterms of the merger may
petition the Delaware Court of Chancery for a decree ordering the surviving
corporation to pay him the fair value of his shares, as determined by a court-
appointed appraiser subject to review by the court. DeL. Cobe ANN. [t]it. §
88§ 253, 262 (1975 ed. [&] 1976 Supp.).
Id.
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"manipulative or deceptive' conduct*** Once again, the Court saw its
decision as anather battle in the war against its old foe, the strike suit.>*°

Schreiber interpreted "manipulative" in the context of Section 14(e)
of the 1934 Act, which prohibits the use of any "fraudulent, deceptive, or
manipulative acts or practices, in connection with any tender offer."*** It
held the use of two successive tender offersthat all egedly manipulated the
price of thetarget's stock on the market wasnot "manipulative" within the
meaning of Section 14(e) in the absence of any deception.”** Again, the
Court made little effort to ascertain whether Congress also intended the
term "manipulative" to require deception.

Santa Fe's and Schreiber's holdings that "manipulative" conduct
must also be "deceptive" seem odd, since the texts of Section 10(b) and
14(e) explicitly prohibit deceptive"or" manipul ative conduct. Why would
10(b) or 14(e) need to prohibit deceptive conduct twice, once expressly as
enacted by the Congress and again by interpretation of the Court? In any
case, by redefining "manipulative' to mean "deceptive," the Court injected
a redundancy into each section. For exanple, after Schreiber, Section
14(e) should be read to prohibit any "fraudulent, deceptive, or deceptive
(formerly manipulative) acts or practices” Further, by creating this
redundancy, the Court violated one of its own cardinal principles of
statutory construction: aninterpretation of astatutethat resultsin redundant
language is disfavored”*®

Finally, the Court Blue-Chip-Stamped the government in Chiarella
v. United States*** and Dirks v. SEC.** In both cases, the government
sought to extend thereach of Section 10(b) to those trading onnon-public

2914, at 474-80.

24014 at 478-79. The Court expressed concern: "The reasoning behind aholding that the
complaint in this case alleged fraudunder Rule 10b-5 could not beeasily contained." Thisinturn
would pose "a'danger of vexatious litigation which could result from awidely expanded class of
plaintiffs under Rule 10b-5," . . . ." Id. (quoting Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stares, 421
U.S. 723, 740 (1975)).

215ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78n(e) (West 1997).

225chreiber stated its holding: "[W]e hold that the actions of respondents were not
manipulative. Theamended complaint failsto allege that the cancellationof thefirsttender offer
was accompanied by any misrepresentation, nondisclosure, or deception." Schreiber, 472 U.S.
at 12-13.

235y THERLAND STAT. CONSTRUCTION § 45.12, at 61 (5th ed. 1992). The Court applied
this principle in Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 574-75 (1995), when it narrowly
interpreted the term "communication" in Section 2(10) of the 1933 Act. The Court declared: "If
‘communication’ included every written communication, it would render 'notice, circular,
advertisement, (and) letter' redundant, since each of these are forms of written communication
aswell)." Id. (emphasis added).

244445 U.S. 222 (1980).

245463 U.S. 646 (1983).
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information by broadening the dutyto disclose, which wouldhave likewise
broadened the duty to disclose of defendants in private civil litigation.**
Ruling for the government in these cases would have opened a seam in the
new business-friendly antifraud provisions, through which packs of
plaintiffs attorneys could pour. Later, Chiarella would serve as a
crossbeam in Central Bank's construction of the fraud-freezone.

In sum, the Supreme Court narrowed the reach of the antifraud
provisionsin the above cases. It eliminated the implied causes of action
under each prong of Section 17(a). It restricted the reach of Section
12(a)(2) to sellers as a warm up and then denied its application to
secondary markets and private placements. It left investors with no
judicially enforceable remedies against broker-dealers. The lower courts
"eyeball" reliance, which the Supreme Court allowed to stand, rendered
Section 18 toothless. Applying Blue Chip Stamps to Section 10(b), the
Court raised the bar for proving three of its elementsand even limited the
evidence admissible to prove a violation. Not even the government was
immune when the decision could be cited as a precedent by lawyers for
defrauded investors. The Court, however, would still have to Blue Chip
Stamp aiding and abetting liability beforethe world would be safe from
strike suits.

G. Fraud-Free Zone, Phase II: Opening for Business

Central Bank was a magjor setback for investors. It eliminated
liability for aiding and abetting a violation of Section 10(b), which further
restricted the reach of Section 10(b) to those using deceptive words or
deceptive conduct to cheat investors**’ Once again the Court pruned back
the antifraud provisions to stop the growth of that same pesky rascal, the
strike suit. The Court explained:

"[L]itigation under Rule 10b-5 presents a danger of
vexatiousnessdifferent in degree and in kind fromthat which
accompanies litigation ingeneral." Blue Chip Stamps . . . .
Litigation under 10b-5 thus requires secondary adors to
expend large sums even for pretrial defense and the
negotiation of settlements. . . .

26See Dirks, 463 U.S. at 660-64; Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 226.
247Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164
(1994).
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This uncertainty and excessive litigation can have
ripple effects. For example, newer and smaller companies
may find it difficult to obtain advice from professionals. A
professional may fear that a newer or smaller company may
not surviveand that businessfailurewouldgeneratesecurities
litigation against the professional, among others. 1n addition,
the increased costs incurred by professionals because of the
litigation and settlement costs under 10b-5 may be passed on
to their client companies, and in turn incurred by the
company's investors, the intended beneficiaries of the
statute.**®

What did Central Bank mean for errant gatekeepers? It wasalicense
issued under the seal of the Supreme Court tocommit fraud up to the point
of itsfinal execution. Lawyers, accountants, and investment bankerscoud
conceive the fraud. Like architects, they could take the concept to the
drafting table to design the details®*° Again like architects, they could
guide their clients step-by-step through execution of the fraud®° If the
fraud were successful, they could market their creation to others®* The
license came, however, with one key limitation: they could not directly
executethefraud onthe investor. If they took thislast step, they might be
treated as a"primary violator."

The Supreme Caurt warned gatekeeperswhat might happen if they
stepped outside the zone:

The absence of § 10(b) aiding and abetting liability does not
mean that secondary actors in the securities markets are
always free from liability under the securities Ads. Any

814, at 189.

29genator Levin concluded the evidence before his subcommittee established that J.P.
Morgan Chase had designed one of the deceptive devices, known as slapshot, used by Enron:
"Finally, the Slapshot transaction, another highly disturbing example of a major U.S. financial
institution's helping Enron engage in adeception transaction. It is particularly disturbing because
Chase, the financial institution invdved here, itself designed the deceptive transaction. That was
even more than aiding and abetting." Hearings on the Lessons of Enron, supra note 9.

20 gybstanti al evidence showed that the financial institutionsinvolved in the deal s knew
exactly what was going on. They structured the transacti ons, signed the paperwork , and supplied
the funds, knowing that Enron was using the deal to report the company was in bette financial
condition that it really was." See id.

#1'Inthe case of Citigroup and Chase, the banks not only assisted Enron, they developed
the deceptive prepays as a financial product and sold it to other companies as so-called 'balance
sheet friendly financing,' earning millions of fees for themselves in the process." See id.
(emphasis added).

B2Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at191.
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person or entity, including alawyer, accountant, or bank, who
employs a manipulative device or makes a materia
misstatement (or omission) on which apurchaser or seller of
securitiesreliesmay beliableasaprimary violator under 10b-
5, assuming a!/! of therequirementsfor primary liability under
Rule 10b-5 are met.*?

For the gatekeeper s, thewarning temporarily created atroubling ambiguity:
how is a secondary actor to be distinguished from a primary violator?**
The Second Circuit resolved this ambiguity in Wright v. Ernst & Young
LLP, making the zone afar safer place to work.*® It delineated the zon€e's
boundary with a bright line®® Under Wright, an actor does not become a
primary violator merely by making a misstatement upon which aninvestor
relies?®  The actor must be identified as the author of the lie in the
communicationto the investor*® Hence, after Wright, gatekeepers could
go one step further in perpetrating fraud in theSecond Circuit, the location
of the nation's financial capital. They oould tell the lie so long as they
refrained fromidentifying themselves as its author.

Two other risks exist for gatekeepers operating fromthe fraud-free
zone: Section 11 of the 1933 Act and the SEC. The Section 11 riskis
easily contained if one simpleruleisfollowedduring apublic offering: do
not serve as a corporate director, underwriter, certifying expert, or signer
of the registration statemert.”® A few gatekeepers got sloppy with Enron
registration gatements and may pay dearly for it.*®°

Thelast risk was the SEC. Congress reinstated the SEC'spower to
prosecute civil actions against those who aid and abet violations of the
1934 Act, which Central Bank had taken away.” Hence, the SEC may
enter the fraud-free zone to check whether attorneys, accountants, and
broker-deal ers are behaving themselves and issue citations if they are not.
Gatekeepershad reason to discount thisrisk. Only one proceeding, aclass

B3See id.

8HAZEN, supra note 60, & 691.

58ee Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169 (2d Cir. 1998).

1. at 175.

257]d.

258[61.

Z95ee Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77k(a) (West 1997).

205ection 11 claims were expressly upheld against only four relatively minor playersin
theEnronfraud. /n re Enron Corp. Sec.,Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235F. Supp. 2d549, 707-08
(S.D. Tex. 2002). Whether the Section 11 claim was upheld against Andersen is unclear:
Andersen is not listed among the defendants against whom Section 11 claims were upheld. 7d.
On the other hand, its Rule 12(b)6 motion was denied in its entirety. /d. at 708.

%115 U.S.C.A. § 78t(e) (West 2003).
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action, had ever been brought against any entity for using an SPE to cook
the books before Chewco; the claims against the only gatekeeper—an
auditing firm—were dismissed during the pleadings stage.®*> The SEC
never brought an injunctive or administrative proceeding on this theory
before the Enron collapse.?®®

One group, however, knew the SEC was not a risk—banks. Their
conception, planning, and execution of the Enron fraud were beyond the
reach of the SEC and banking regulators. Senator L evin explaned thisgap
and his solution:

There is a regulatory gap now. The Securities and
Exchange Commission doesnotgenerally regulate banks, and
bank regulatorsdon't regulate accounting practices or ensure
accurate financia statements. Two steps need to be taken
which, together, could close this gap.

First, the SEC should issue apolicy which states clearly that
the SEC will take enforcement action against financial
institutions which aid or abet a client's dishonest accounting
by selling deceptive structured finance or tax products or by
knowingly or recklessly participating in deceptive structured
transactions.

Second, the bank regulators, including the Federal Reserve
that oversees our financial holding companies, need to Sate
that violation of that SEC policy that | jug described would
constitute an unsafe and unsound banking practice, thereby
enabling bank examinerstotakeregulatory actionduring bank
examinations.”®*

To summarize, the antifraud provisions created little risk for
Barclays onthe eve of itsalleged misadventure with Chewco. More than

221y re Wellcare Mgmt. Group, Inc. Sec. Litig., 964 F. Supp. 632 (N.D.N.Y.1997).

23The first case w here the SEC may have contended SPEswere usedto cook the books
was HSBC Holdings, plc, Notice of Application, 76 SEC DockeT 11, Investment Co. Act of
1940, Release Nos. 1C-25318 & 812-12726 (Dec. 17, 2001), but the facts were not stated in
sufficient detail to be sure. The SEC did contend the use of SPEs violated Sections 10(b) of the
1934 Act and 17(a) of the 1933 Act in In re PNC Financial Services Group, Inc., 78 SEC
DockEeT 1, Securities Act of 1933, Release No. 8112 (July 18, 2002), Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, Release No. 46225 (July 18, 2002) and In re Dynegy, Inc., 78 SEC DockeT 11,
Securities Act of 1933 Release No. 8134 (Sept. 24, 2002), Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Release No. 46537 (Sept. 24, 2002).

B4Hearings on the Lessons of Enron, supra note 9.
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twenty yearsof Supreme Court decisions had undone the work of the73rd
Congress. Central Bank created a fraud-free zone, safe from privatecivil
suits. A regulatory gap prevented the SEC from entering thezone. Solong
as Barclays did not identify itself as the author of any lie, it could, with
apparent immunity, conceive, plan, and help execute a fraud on Enron
investors.

H. Has the Supreme Court Pulled Back from Blue Chip Stamps?

In 1995, Congress enacted the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act (PSLRA) to curb what it saw as abusive practicesin private securities
litigation, particularly in classactions?®® Thelegisl ationtightened pleading
requirementsfor stating securities fraud claims and induded an automatic
stay of discovery until pleadingsissueswereresolved.®® Accordingly, the
PSLRA should have obviated the need, from the Court's perspective, for
any further steps to implement its war on strike suits.

Indeed, three decisions since the adoption of the PSLRA may signal
the Court's pullback from Blue Chip Stamps. Inthefirst, United States v.
O'Hagan,”®" the Court recognized the "misappropriation theory" as a
"complement” to the classic theory of insider trading.”® The decision
createsanew sourcefor aduty under Section10(b).2® However, investors
have yet been unable to state a claim under the new theory in any reported
decision.””

The second decision, Wharf (Holdings) Ltd. v. United International
Holdings, Inc., is more important for its reasoning than its holding. The
Court decided "security" included an oral option.?* The Court rejected
defendant Wharf'sargument that enforcement of oral optionswouldviolate

%55ee 1933 Act § 27 (15 U.S.C.A. § 77z-1(a)); 1934 Act § 21D (15 U.S.C.A. § 78u-4).

#65ee 1933 Act § 27 (15U.S.C.A . § 77z-1(a)); 1934 Act § 21D (15 U.S.C.A. § 78u-4).
The PLSRA, of course, made it more difficultfor Enron investors to recover under the antifraud
provisions because of its pleading requirements and discovery stay. It does not appear, however,
to have been a major obstacle in the Class Action against the gatekeepers, since the plaintiffs
overcamethe Rule 12 (b)(6) mations brought by most gatekeeper-defendants. /n re Enron Corp.
Sec., Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d 549, 708 (S.D. Tex. 2002).

%7521 U.S. 642 (1997).

%874, at 652.

B9Gee id.

2%No private claim based on the misappropriation theory has advanced beyond the
pleadings stage. See, e.g., TFM Investment Group v. Baue, No. 99-840,1999 U.S. Dist. Lexis
15821, at *7-*8 (ED. Pa. Sept. 29, 1999) ("Thus, on its face this case does not seem to fall
within this theary because defendant does not owea duty to plaintiff since plaintiff was not the
sourceof thisnon-public, material information. In other words, defendant did not 'misap propriate'
any non-public information from the plaintiff.").

2MWharf (Holdings) Ltd. v. United Int'l Holdings, Inc., 532 U.S. 588 (2001).
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thepolicy of Blue Chip Stamps "to protect defendantsagainst law suitsthat
‘turn largely onwhat oral version of a series of occurrences the jury may
decide to credit."*"* Defendant Wharf's reliance on Blue Chip Stamps
appears well-founded, sincealawsuit based on a"security" arising out of
the spoken wordwasjust the flimsy type of suitthat Blue Chip Stamps was
supposed to stamp out.?”® Hence, the Court's rejection of this argument
implies apullback from Blue Chip Stamps.

SEC v. Zandford is the clearest signal of a pullback. The Court
found aviolation of Section 10(b) where an erant broker failedto disclose
he was selling his client's securities to pocket the proceeds.?”* The Court
liberally construed the phrase "in connection with" to bring the broker's
conduct within the scope of Section 10(b).?”> Asdiscussed next, however,
In re Enron mistakenly reads Zandford to hold Section 10(b) prohibits
deceptive conduct without deceptive words.

IV. IN RE ENRON: A BoLD BUT FLAWED EFFORT
70 CLOSE THE FRAUD-FREE ZONE

The gatekeepers sued in the Enron class action fall into three
groups.””® One group never left the safety of the fraud-free zone; these
gatekeepers made no statements to investors. Barclays is the only
gatekeeper from this goup still in the suit. Central Bank's holding,
rejecting liability for aiding and abetting a Section 10(b) viol ation, appears
to protect this group.””

A second group of gatekeepers identified themselves as co-authors
of the lie in misleading statementsdistributed to investors. For example,
by placing its audit stamp on Enron's financial gatements filed with the
SEC and distributed to investors?”® Andersen joined this group. It
voluntarily stepped outside the fraud-free zone. Not even the Second

22See id. at 594 (quoting Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 742
(1975)).

23The enforcement of an "oral option" violates at least the spirit if not the letter of
Virginia Bankshares, 501 U.S. at 1092.

2ASECv. Zandford, 535U.S. 813, 825 (2002). It could also be argued the Supreme Court
in Zandford merely affirmed its earlier decision in Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life &
Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6 (1971).

25SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 825 (2002).

213 re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D. Tex.
2002).

2"Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver,N.A., 511 U.S 164, 191
(1994).

28See supra text accompanying notes 57-58.
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Circuit's "bright line" interpretation of Central Bank can rescue
Andersen.?”

The third group of gatekeepers made misleading statements passed
along to investors;, however, these gatekeepers were not so foolish to
identify themselves in the documerts as the authors of the lie. Thisgroup
operateswithin the fraud-free zone under the Second Circuitinterpretation
of Central Bank, but not so under the SEC'sinterpretation.?*

In denying the gatekeepers motions to dismiss, In re Enron
articulated two legal theories to overcome Central Bank.?®" The first
addressed an issue that Central Bank |eft open. Central Bank observed
secondary actors mi ght become liable as"primary violators' under Section
10(b), but failed to articulate arule under what circumstancesthat liability
would arise.?®* In re Enron, adopting the SEC position, held a secondary
actor becomes a primary violator when the actor authorsthe misstatement
statement communicated to the invegor, even though the statement does
not identify the actor assuch.?®® Thisholding closesthefraud-freezonefor
all those whose misstatementswere passed along to investors, i e., two of
the three groups described above. However, this prong of In re Enron did
not reach Barclays's use of Chewco, since those allegations were not based
on misrepresentations to investors?®** Barclays was still safely within the
fraud-free zone.

The second prong of the decision was aimed at the gatekeepers
whose deceptive conduct allegedly violated Section 10(b), such as
Barclays.?®* Although anovel theory, it is elegantly simple and rests on
legal granite. Central Bank held the defendant bank in that case was not
liable for aiding and abetting the preparaion of a mideading appraisal .*%°
Hence, thefraud at the care of Central Bank consisted of mideading words.
Deceiving with misleading words, however, isnot the only way to literally
violate Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Thetext of both the statute and the
rule expressly include fraud committed by means other than deceptive
words.*®" On this point, In re Enron reads:

219See Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998) (applying the
"bright line" test).

205ee id. The SEC's position on Central Bank was discussed at some length in In re
Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 588-90.

Bl re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2dat 583-90.

#2Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at191.

231y re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 587-90. The Second Circuit held the defendant must
beidentified as the author of any misstatement to be a primary violator. Wright, 152 F.3d at175.

BiSee supra notes 72-73.

25See In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2dat 577.

%Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 191,

Iy re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2dat 577.
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Securities fraud actions under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
arenot merely limited tothe making of an untrue statement of
material fact or omission to state a material fact. Section
10(b) prohibits "any manipulative or deceptive contrivance,”
which, as indicated above, the Supreme Court, relying on
Webster's International Dictionary, includes "a sheme to
deceive" or "scheme, plan or artifice."**®

Hence, even if the wrongdoer made no misstatement to investors, as
Barclays had not, it could still beliableif itsconduct was deceptive. Under
thistheory, for example, Barclays's alleged use of Chewco would amount
to the use of a "deceptive device or cortrivance" in violation of Section
10(b).** Central Bankwould not protect Barclaysbecauseliabilitywasnot
based on the theory that it aided and abetted Enron. Rather, Barclaysacted
as primary violator, but its violdion was in theform of alleged acts rather
than words. To thispoint, /n re Enron'sreasoning is sound; it did not stay
that way.

Unfortunately for investors the decision uniformly misstates the
holdings of the cases it cites as authority for its textual interpretation of
Section 10(b). In re Enron misreads Zandford to hold Section 10(b) may
be violated by deceptive conduct without the classic misrepresentation or
omission. On this point, the court reasoned:

In Zandford, a unanimous Supreme Court opinion, leaving
aside the misrepresentation and omission language since it
was not relevant to the case, the high caurt focused on
8 10(b)'s alternative basis for liability, "unlawful for any
person. .. [t]o useor employ,in connection with the purchase
or sale of any security . . ., any manipulative or deceptive
device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and
regulationsasthe [ SEC] may prescribe" andRule 10b-5's ban
on the use, "in connection with the purchase or sale of any
security," of "any devicescheme, or artificeto defraud" or any

BBSee id.
25The Enron court summarized the pertinent allegations of this conduct:

Lead Plaintiff hasalleged a scheme or course of businessin which the various
participant Defendants concealed a pattern of creating unlawful SPEs and
utilizing fraudulent transactions with these entities as contrivances or deceptive
devices to defraud investors into continung to pour investment money into
Enron securities to keep afl oat the Ponzi scheme and thereby enrich themselves
in avariety of ways.

See id. at 578 n.15.
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other "act, practice, or course of business" that "operates. . .
as afraud or deceit."**

Again later, In re Enron states Zandford "made crystal clear that a
misrepresentation need not be involved and that asuit could be based on
Rule 10b-5(a) or (c)."***

In re Enron's reliance on Zandford is misplaced. Zandford involved
the fiduciary duty of a broker-dealer to his customer in a dscretionary
account**  Zandford was pocketing the proceeds from the sales of
securities in his customer's accourt, but not disdosing the thefts to his
customer.?** Significantly, the taking of the fundswas not the violation.
Rather, the Supreme Court explained each sale was" deceptive because it
was neither authorized by, nor disclosed to, the Woods."***

Similarly, In re Enron'sreliance on Affiliated Ute, Superintendent of
Insurance, Santa Fe, Central Bank, and O'Hagan was misplaced for the
same reason.*®>  From these cases, In re Enron digtills the following
principle:

Whilesubsection (b) of Rule 10b-5 provides acause of action
based on the "making of an untruestatement of amaterial fact
and the omissionto stateamaterial fact,” subsections (a) and
(c) "are not so restricted” and allow suit against defendants
who, with scienter, participated in "a'course of business or a
‘device, scheme or artifice' that operated asafraud” on sellers
or purchasers of stock even if these defendants did not make
a materially false or misleading statement or omission.*®

None of the holdings gothat far. To the contrary, in each case, the
Court predicated ligbility on a misrepresentation or a nondisclosure.
Affiliated Ute ("they possessed the affirmative duty . . . to disclose " the
existence of a second market for the securities);*" Superintendent of
Insurance ("Manhattan'sBoard. . . wasallegedly deceived into authorizing

2074, at 578 (emphasis added) (alterationsin original).

P1See In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 585.

22gEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 815 (2002).

293[d.

2414 at 821 (emphasis added).

2Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 153 (1972);
Superintendent of Ins. v. BankersLife& Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6,8 n.1(1971); SantaFelndus.,
Inc., v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 474 (1977); Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of
Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 166 (1994); United States v. O'Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 660 (1997).

2613 re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 577 (emphasis added).

27 g ffiliated Ute, 406 U.S. at 153.
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thissal e by the misrepresentation that the prooceedswoul dbe exchanged for
a certificate of deposit of equal value");*® Santa Fe (no liability because
"therewasno 'omission’or 'misstatement'in theinformation statement");?*°
O'Hagan ("failureto disclose his personal trading . . . made his conduct
‘deceptive™);** and Central Bank (misleading appraisal).*®* Hence, the
reasoning of In re Enron is flawed.

V. CaN THE FRAUD-FREE ZONE BE CLOSED?
YEs, IF SecTioN 10(B) APpLIES TO CONDUCT

A. One Possibility for Closing the Fraud-Free Zone:
Conduct as Fraud

At least for now, In re Enron closed the fraud-free zone. Thecase
became the first reported decision to interpret Section 10(b) to impose
liability on an actor who had no contact withtheinjured investor, solely on
the basis of deceptive conduct®? This means Barclays, despite its
disciplined silence, may be liable to investors though it never uttered a
word to them. The decision, however, is based on the faulty premisethat
the Supreme Court had already deci ded deceptive conduct—in theabsence
of amisrepresentation or omission—may violate Section 10(b). TheCourt
has never decided theissue, at least not in away that supports In re Enron.

Indeed, many commentatorsinterpret Santa Fe** and Schreiber®® to
have reached the opposite holding: aviolation of Section 10(b) cannot be
established without a misrepresentation or nondisclosure®®® But their

2BSuperintendent of Ins., 404 U.S. at8 n.1.

*Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at474.

%00'Hagan, 521 U.S. at 660.

®lCent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 166.

3921 re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D. Tex.
2002). The courts, however, have held certain schemes to manipul ate prices on the open mark et
to be in violation of Section 10(b). See HAZEN, supra note 60, at 561-62. Nevertheless, this
limited theory cannot be extended by Enron's investors to impose liability on Barclays for its
alleged use of Chewco. See infra text accompanyingnote 313.

38santa Fe Indus., Inc., v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977).

04schreiber v. Burlington N. Inc., 472 U.S. 1 (1985).

3%See HAZEN, supra note 60, at 564 ("The impact of the Supreme Court's decision in
Schreiber v. Burlington Northern, Inc. could likely be carried over to Section10(b). The court
in Schreiber held that '[w]ithout misrepresentation or non-disclosure, 8 14(e) has not been
violated."') (quoting Schreiber, 471 U.S. at 12); JamesD. Redwood, Toward a More Enlightened
Securities Jurisprudence in the Supreme Court? Don't Bank on it Anytime Soon, 32 Hous. L.
Rev. 3, 19 (1995) ("The Court [in Santa Fe, 30 U.S. at 476] has informed the securities bar that
‘deceptive' in section 10(b) means a misrepresentation or omission to state amaterial fact .. . .");
Margaret V. Sachs, The Relevance of Tort Law Doctrine to Rule 10b-5: Should Careless
Plaintiffs be Denied Recovery, 71 CORNELL L. REv. 96, 142 (1985).
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views are part of a larger issue: Isthere any legal theory under Section
10(b) for holding Barclays liable which is not barred by a holding of the
Supreme Court?

One theory might be based on Barclays's nondisclosure of its secret
transactions with Enron and JEDI that rendered Chewco a sham.** Since
nondisclosuremay violate Section 10(b),**” would not Barclays's failureto
disclose these facts constitute such a violation? The omitted factswere
"material"; for 1997 alone, the disclosure of these facts would have cut
Enron's eamings by forty percent, increased its debt by $711 million, and
trimmed shareholders' equity by $313 million.**®® There is, however, afly
in the ointment—duty. Chiarella requires one, but Barclays has none®®

No recognized theory obligated Barclays to disclose the secret
transactions. First, a duty may arise where the actor is a fiduciary.?*°
However, Barclays did nothing to become afiduciary of Enron’'sinvestors.
Additional ly, even if no duty to speak exists, an actor must speak the full
truth if he or she breaks silence—half truths violate Section 10(b).3"*
Barclays kept silent. Finally, a duty to speak may arise under SEC
regulations, such as Regulation S-K. No SEC regulation required Barclays
to speak.®*? Accordingly, Barclays camot be held liable under Section
10(b) for itsfalure to disclose a material fact.

What about the theory that Barclayss alleged role in forming,
funding, and controlling Chewco violated Section 10(b)'s prohibition
against using a manipulative device or contrivance? This theory collides
with the express bar in Hochfelder and Santa Fe where the Court held
"manipulate” isa"term of art" limited to specific schemesthat artificially

36See supra Section 1.

30" 4ffiliated Ute held an omission may serveasthe basisfor liability under Section 10(b):

Under the circumstances of this case, involving primarily afailure to disclose,

positive proof of reliance is not aprerequisite to recovery. All thatis necessary

isthat thefactswithheld be material in the sense that areasonableinvestor might

have considered them important in the making of this decision.

Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 153-54 (1972).

38 nron Class Action Complaint, supra note 10, {61.

309"\When an allegation of fraud is based upon nondiscl osure, therecan be no fraud absent
aduty to speak." Chiarellav. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 235 (1980).

30See id. at 229.

81" This statement, then, could be construed to be a half-truth which could be shown to
be a § 10(b) violation. Therefore, the court will not dismiss this portion of the claim." Endov.
Albertine, 812 F. Supp. 1479, 1486 (N.D. I11. 1993).

$25ee supra text accompanying note 263.
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affect securities prices on the open market, e.g., "wash sales," or "matched
orders."3*?

If Section 10(b) cannot get thejob done, why not call upon Rule 10b-
5to pick up the slack? Perhaps Barclays's conduct viol ated one or more of
thethree prongsof Rule 10b-5, although outside thescope of Section 10(b).
Thistheory risks a rebuke fromthe Supreme Court based on Hochfelder,
which held Rule 10b-5 cannot beinterpreted broader than the language of
Section 10(b)**

Consequently, thisprocess of elimination |eaves only one contender
for holding Barclaysaccountable: Did Barclaysuse Chewco asadeceptive
deviceor contrivancein violation of Section10(b)? Thisissueturnsonthe
Court's holding in Santa Fe and possibly Schreiber. Do these cases mean,
as commentaors sugged,**® that Section 10(b) can only be violated by
deceptionin theform of misrepresentation or nondisclosure? If so, Section
10(b) does not apply to deceptive conduct, such as Barclays's alleged use
of Chewco.**® For Barclays, this meansthedenial of its motion to dismiss
was error.®’ For investors, it means the fraud-free zone is permanent
unless the Supreme Court reverses Santa Fe**® and Schreiber®® or unless
Congress acts. Neither appearslikely.

The commentéaors have seized on dicta, ambiguous dicta at that, in
Santa Fe and Schreiber to buttress their theory that Section 10(b) requires
the deception to be in the form of a misrepresentation or nondisclosure.**°
In both Santa Fe and Schreiber, minority shareholders claimed thebuyout
of their holdings by the majority violated the 1934 Act. The Santa Fe
plaintiffsalleged the majority conducted a Delaware short-form mergerin
violation of Section 10(b), while the Schreiber plaintiff aleged the
majority's tender offers violated Section 14(e)** No claim was made in

$B3santaFelndus., Inc., v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476 (1977); Ernst & Ernstv. Hochfelder,
425 U.S. 185, 205 (1976); In re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d
549, 569 n.10 (S.D. Tex. 2002).

34Thus, despite the broad view of the Rule [10b-5] advanced by the Commission in this
case, its scope cannot exceed the power granted the Commission by Congress under § 10(b).
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 214.

S1HAZEN, supra note 60, at 564, 67 8; Redwood, supra note 305, & 19 n.52; Sachs, supra
note 305, & 142.

3%In re Enron, 235 F. Supp.2d at 703.

S7d. at 708.

38santa Fe Indus., Inc., v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977).

319Schreiber v. Burlington N. Inc., 472 U.S. 1 (1985).

30See supra note 315.

325chreiber's holding, as opposed to its dicta, comes into sharper focus in the context of
the conflict it resolved among the circuit courts over themeaning of "'manipulation” in Section
14(e). The Court described the conflict: "The Court of Appealsfor the Sixth Circuit has held that
manipulation does not always require an dement of misrepresentation or nondisclosure. The
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either case that the majority had used any form of deception’?
Accordingly, theissue before the Court in both cases may be stated: Does
aviolation of Section 10(b) (Santa Fe) or Section 14(e) (Schreiber) require
deception? To the extent the Court decided that issue, its decision was a
holding. To the extent it sought to distinguish which species of deception
violates Section 10(b) or 14(e), an issue the litigants had not raised, itwas
parsing an issue that was not beforeit. The Court's conclusions, therefore,
on thisissue would be dicta and haveno precedential value®*

Santa Fe, however, does not even offe dictato support the theory
that Section 10(b) prohibits only verbal deception. A "deceptive device or
contrivance," according to Santa Fe, not only includes misrepresentations
and nondisclosures, but also indudes other forms of deception which the
Court left undefined. The following statement comes closest to being the
holding of Santa Fe: "[T]he cases do not support the proposition, adopted
by the Court of Appeal sbel ow and urged by respondentshere, that abreach
of fiduciary duty by majority stockholders, without any deception,
misrepresentation, or nondisclosure, violates the statute and the Rule."***
Theuse of "deception” in theabove phrase must mean something morethan
mi srepresentation or nondisclosure unless the Court's choice of wordswas

Court of Appealsfor the Second and Eighth Circuits have applied an analysis consistent with the
one we apply today." Schreiber, 472 U.S. at 5 n.3 (citations omitted).

In Mobil Corp. v. Marathon Oil Co., 669 F.2d 366, 377 (6th Cir 1981), the district court
denied Mobil's application for injunctiverelief to prevent arival from closing itstender offer. In
reversing, the Sixth Circuit found the acceptance of therival tender offer to be manipulation in
violation of Section 14(e), even if all facts were disclosed to shareholders. The Court reasoned:

The artificial ceiling on the price of their shares at $125 is manipulation to

which they must submit whether it is disclosed to them or not . . . In short, to

find compliancewith section 14(e) solely by thefull disclosureof amanipulative

deviceasafait accompli woul d be to read the "manipulative acts and practices”

language completely out of the Williams Act.
1d.

Hazen describes the holding in Marathon Oil: "[T]he Sixth Circuit held that
'manipulative' conduct under Section 14(e) coud extend beyond deceptionto includeinterference
with the tender offer market." HAzEN, supra nate 60, at 536.

32In Santa Fe, the Court accepted the district court's conclusion "that the ‘complaint
fail[ed] to allege an omission, misstatement or fraudulent course of conduct that would have
impeded a shareholder's judgment of the value of the offer." Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 469. In
Schreiber, the Court stated: "The amended complaint failsto allegethat the cancellation of the
first tender offer [the basis of the 14(e) claim] was accompanied by any misrepresentation,
nondisclosure, or deception." Schreiber, 472 U.S. at 12-13.

323 ocal 144 Nursing Home Pension Fund v. D emisay, 508 US. 581, 592 n.5 (1993) ("It
was, if anything, those dicta themselves—uninvited, unargued, and unnecessary to the Court's
holdings—which insulted that virtue; and we would add injury to insult by according them
precedential effect."); Colgrove v. Battin, 413 U.S. 149, 158 (1973) ("We cannot, therefore,
accord the unsupported dicta of these earlier decisions the authority of decided precedents.").

34Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 476 (emphasis added).
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redundant. That flaw should not be presumed. Since deception includes
more than the use of deceptive words, it must aso include the use of
deceptive conduct. In any case, at a minimum, Santa Fe does not bar the
application of Section 10(b) to deceptive conduct.

At first glance, Schreiber®” does not even seem relevant to the issue
whether Section 10(b) reaches decepttive conduct. How could Schreiber's
interpretation of "manipulative" in Section 14(e) have any baring onthe
meaning of a different term ("deceptive") in the context of a different
provision (Section 10(b))? The connectivetheory has four steps. Step 1:
Schreiber held "manipulative" conduct does not violate Section 14(e)
unlessit is also deceptive. Step2: Schreiber aso required the deception
to beintheform of amisrepresentation or nondisclosure. Step 3: Section
10(b) should apply to thesame typeof deception as Section 14(€).**° Step
4: Hence, Section 10(b) only prohibits deception in the form of a
mi srepresentation or nondisclosure.

The flaw in the above theory is at Step 2. Asdiscussed above, any
discussion in Schreiber that Section 14(e) only prohibits certain types of
deception would have been a dictum, since that issue was not before the
Court. But the flaw in Step 2 has a second facet. Schreiber does not
merely offer one dictum on thisisaue; it offersfour. The Court makesfour
conflicting statements in Schreiber—all dicta—of the type of deception
required to establish "manipulative" acts or practices. Two suggest the
deception may include conduct: the other two suggest the opposite. The
Court stated twice that "manipulation” requires a migepresentation to
violate Section 10(b)**’ and three times that "manipulation” requires either
a misrepresentation or nondisclosure to violate Section 14(e).*® Inyet a

32schreiber v. Burlington N. Inc., 472 U.S. 1 (1985).

3%Dennis S. Karjala, Federalism, Full Disclosure, and the National Markets in the
Interpretation of Federal S ecurities Law, 80 Nw. U.L. REv. 1473, 1505 (1986).

For example, section 14(e) requires that there actually be a tender offer before

anything can be conddered manipulative, so "shark repdlant” techniques like

"poison pills" might fall outsideits grasp. Moreover, given the general level of

complexity, one can understand ajudicial desireto adopt a hands-off approach

until Congress or the SEC has provided more precise standards.
1d.

S27Schreiber, 472 U.S. at 4 ("The District Court relied on the factthat in cases involving
alleged violations of § 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), this Court has
required misrepresentation for there to be a 'manipulative’ vidation of the section.”). "But
Congress used the phrase 'manipulative or deceptive' in § 10(b) as well, and we have interpreted
‘manipulative' in that context to require misrepresentation.” Schreiber, 472 U.S. at 7-8.

38Schreiber, 472 U.S. at 8. "Our conclusion that 'manipul ative' actsunder § 14(e) require
misrepresentation or nondisclosure is buttressed by the purpose and legislative histary of the
provision." Id. "We hold that the term ‘manipulative’ as used in § 14(e) requires
misrepresentation or nondisclosure. 1t connotes ‘conduct designed to deceive or defraud investors
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third version, which implies deception includes nonverbal acts, the Court
stated its holding: "[W]e hold that the actions of respondents were not
manipulative. The amended complaint fails to alege . . . any
misrepresentation, nondisclosure, or deception."**® The Court also blessed
a fourth meaning of "manipulative" which also includes deceptive acts.
The Court decided the meaningit had given "manipulative”" was" consistent
with the use of the term at common law."** The Court then explained how
"manipulation” at common law could besatisfied by deceptioninthe form
of words or acts:

[T]he semina English case of Scott v. Brown, Doering,
McNab & Co., which broke new ground in recognizing that
manipulation could occur without the dissemination of false
statements, nonethel ess placed emphasis on the presence of
deception. AsLord Lopes stated in that case, "I can see no
substantial distinction between false rumours and false and
fictitious acts." [The court in] United States v. Brown
[stated:] "[Even] a speculator is entitled not to have any
present fact involving the subject matter of his specul ative
purchase or the price thereof misrepresented by word or
act."**

Under thisfourth version, as well as the third, Section 10(b) would apply
to deceptive conduct and thus reach Barclays's alleged use of Chewco.
Two other dicta in Schreiber, however, support the opposite view. The
only conclusion that can be drawn from Schreiber isthefolly of citing the
Court'sdictaas law.

In sum, it is a leap, unsupported by the law or logic, to take the
holdings in Santa Fe and Schreiber—that a violation of Section 10(b)
requires deception—to the conclusion that the deception must be in the
form of an omission or a misrepresentaion.*** Further, the Court's
language indicatesit has not taken that leap. Accordingly, Schreiber and
Santa Fe have left the door gjar for the theory that deceptive conduct,
without a misrepresentation or omission, violates Section 10(b).

by controlling or artificially affecting the price of securities." Without misrepresentation or
nondisclosure, § 14(e) has not been violated." /d. at 12 (citation omitted).

52914, at 12-13 (emphasis added).

%074, at 7.

%174 at 7 n.4 (citations omitted; emphasis added) (quoting Scott v. Brown, Doering,
McNab & Co., [1892] 2 Q.B. 724, 730 (C.A.); United States v. Brown, 5 F. Supp. 81, 85
(S.D.N.Y. 1933)).

3328ee Schreiber, 472 U.S. at 7, 12-13; Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at476.



498 DELAWARE JOURNA L OF CORPORATE LAw [Vol. 28

That opening may widen if recent Supreme Court decisions truy
signal apullback from the"policy considerations" announced in Blue Chip
Stamps.** As discussed above, in order to deter strike suits, the Court
restricted the reach of the antifraud provisionsin aseries of decisions that
began in 1974.%** The enforcement of those "pdicy considerations" was
obviated, if ever needed, by Congress'sadoptionin 1995 of PSLRA, which
also had the goal of eliminating specious aits for securities fraud.**®
Indeed, the Court's later decisions in Wharf, O'Hagan, and Zandford
suggest it may be pulling back from its disciplined application of Blue Chip
Stamps >*°

This implies a more benign environment for the Court to consider
closing the fraud-free zone. Further,the magnitude and scope of theEnron
fraud demonstrate the Court has gone too far in weakening the antifraud
provisionsto protect Wall Street and corporate Americafromstrike suits.
But abenign environment isnot enough. A viablelegal theory must require
the Court to close the zone. That theory must accept as givens the Court's
decisions that created the zone, Blue Chip Stamps and its progeny, which
now, as precedents, obstruct its closing. The legal theory presented next
endeavors to satisfy those criteria. It has four complementary but
independent strands. The theory begins where In re Enron did, but takes
adifferent path at the fork where that case went wrong.

B. Textual Interpretation: Section 10(b) Applies to Conduct

The Supreme Court claims to use the most basic rule of statutory
construction for deciding whether a wrongdoe's conduct falls within the
scope of Section 10(b). Inthe Court'swords, "[T]he statutory text controls
the definition of conduct covered by §10(b)."**" So, accepting the Court's
mandate, what isthe literal meaning of thekey language in Section 10(b)?
The Court has already adopted definitions for two of the three key words
in the operative phrase: "deceptive device or contrivance." Using
Webster's International Dictionary, Hochfelder defined "device" to mean

333Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 737 (1975).

34See supra Sectiors 11 F.-G.

335Securities Exchange Act of 1934, § 21D, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78u-4 (West 1997).

33éWharf (Holdings) Ltd. v. United Int1 Holdings, Inc., 532 U.S. 588 (2001); United
States v. O'Hagan, 521 U.S. 642 (1997); SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813 (2002). See supra
Sectionlll.H.

337Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Derver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164,175
(1994); see also SUTHERLAND, supra note 243, 8 47.01 (stating that "[t]he starting point in
statutory corstruction is to read and examine the text of the act and draw inferences concerning
the meaning from its composition and structure").
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"[t]hat whichisdevised, or formed by design; acontrivance; an invention;
project; scheme; often, a schemeto deceive; astratagem; an artifice."**®
Again using the same dictionary, the Court defined "contrivance" to mean
"in pertinent part. . . '[a] thing contrived or used in contriving; a scheme,
plan, or artifice.' [and] [i]n turn, ‘cortrive' in pertinent part [to mean] '[t]o
devise; to plan; to plot . . . [tjo fabricate . . . desgn; invent . . . to
scheme."** To complete the definitions, the same dictionary defines
"deceptive" to mean "tending or having power to deceive."**° Hence, using
the Court's definitions and its choice of dctionaries, a deceptive deviceor
contrivance covers a broad spectrum of conduct, including: an invention,
stratagem, or thing fabricated tending to deceive. Thus, a"deceptive device
or contrivance” literally includes both the scam artist's use of the cassock
and collection box, aswell as Barclayss alleged use of Chewco to doctor
Enron's books.

C. Contextual Interpretation: Section 10(b) Applies to Conduct

Another key principleof statutory construction requireseach section
of alegislative scheme, such asthe 1933 and 1934 Acts,*** to be construed
with the other sectionsto produce a"harmonious whole."**> The Supreme
Court applied avaiant of thisprinciplein Touche Ross, when it refused to
imply a private remedy under Section 17(a) of the 1934 Act’®
Preliminarily, the Court observed Congress had areated express remedies
in Sections 18(a) and 9(e).*** From that threshold, in refusingto imply a
remedy, the Court reasoned: "Obviously, then, when Congress wished to
provide a private damages remedy, it knew how to do so and did so
expressly."?*

This principle equally applies in ascertaining the meaning of
"deceptive device or contrivence." If Congress intended this phrase to
include only fraud committed by misleading statements or omissions, two
nagging questions seek an answer: (1) Why did it depart from the two

%8Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 199 n.20 (1976) (quoting W EBSTER'S
INTERNATION AL DICTIONARY (2d ed. 1934)).

33974, (quoting WEBSTER'S INTERNATION AL DICTIONARY, supra note 338).

3OWEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATION AL DICTIONARY 585 (1993).

31The Court in Blue Chip Stamps treated the 1933 and 1934 Acts asasingle legislative
scheme. Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 740-41 (1975). The Court
inferred Congress's intent from its enactment of Section 11(e) of the 1933 Act and presumed the
same congressional intent in interpreting Section 10(b) of the 1934 Act. See id.

342SUTHERLAND, supra note 243, §46.05.

343Touche Ross & Co. v. Redington, 442 U.S. 560, 572 (1979).

344[d.

3451d.
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formulas it used in five other antifraud provisions, and (2) why did it
employ such obtuse language in Section 10(b) to say the same thing?
Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 17(a)(2) of the 1933 Act explicitly define fraud
asthe use of amisrepresentation or omisson.** Sections9(a)(4) and 18(a)
of the 1934 Act define fraud as the use of false or misleading statements.®’
Hence, using the language "deceptive device or contrivance" to mean the
same makes no sense. The principles of statutory construction require a
more harmonious interpretation of this statutory scheme?*® The rule of
construction from Touche Ross is easily adapted to the issue here: when
Congress intended to define fraud committed by a misstatement or
omission, "it knew how to do so and did so expressly."*** Therefore, in
using the language " deceptive device or contrivance,” Congress must have
intended to define a different type of fraud, one that went beyond
misleading or omitted words. That |eaves deceptive conduct.

D. Intent of the 73rd Congress: Section 10(b) Applies to Conduct

By way of background, two identical billsthat becamethe 1934 Act
wereintroduced in the House and Senate during February 1934.3° Section
9(c) of these hills, which became Section 10(b), did not contain the
language "manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance."*** The
original language of Section 9(c) broadly prohibited the use of "any device
or contrivance in away or manner which the Commissionmay by itsrules
and regulations find detrimental to the public interest or to the proper
protection of investors."*** Section 9(c) would passthrough threeiterations
on its way to becoming Section 10(b). As discussed below, Congress
added the limiting language "manipulative and deceptive" to Section 9(c)
so its grant of power to the SEC would not exceed constitutional
constraints.

The concern over Section 9(c) waspart of the larger concern about
the constitutionality of theentire 1934 Act. The73rd Congressforesaw the
risk that the courts might strike down the 1934 Act as an unlawful
delegation of legislative authority. Thisconcernwas apparent inthereport

346See Securities Act of 1933, § 11, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77k (West 1997); § 12(a)(2), 15
U.S.C.A. 8771(a)(2) (West 2003); § 17(a)(2), 15 U.S.C.A. § 77q(a)(2) (West 2003).

347See Securities Exchange Act of 1934, § 9(a)(4), 15 U.SC.A. § 78i(a)(4) (West 2003);
§ 18(a), 15 U.S.C.A. § 78(a) (West 1997).

38See SUTHERLAND, supra note 243, §46.05.

*9Touche Ross, 442 U.S. at 572.

305, 2693, 73d Cong. (1934); H.R. 7852, 73d Cong. (1934).

15,2693, 73d Cong. § 9(c) (1934); H.R. 7852, 73d Cong. § 9(c) (1934).

%25, 2693, 73d Cong. § 9(c) (1934); H.R. 7852, 73d Cong. § 9(c) (1934).
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of the House Interstate and Foreign Commerce Committee (House
Committeg), which offered alengthy justification for thebroad delegation
of legidlative power, at that time to the Federal Reserve Board and the
Federal Trade Commission.®** The Report stated the grant of legidl ative
power to regulatory agencies went to the limit the Cammittee thought the
Congtitution would permit. The Committee wrote, "The constitutional
significance of the wide delegation of powers. . . has been conddered with
particular care . . . . The bill legislates specifically, just as far as the
Committee feels it can.">*

These concerns were well-founded. At the time the 73rd Congress
was holding hearings on the 1934 Act, the National Industrial Recovery
Act—enacted a year earlie—was under constitutional attack as an
unlawful delegation of legislaive authority.**> The following year, the
Supreme Court would grike down two separate provisions of the National
Industrial Recovery Act on this exact constitutional ground.®*®

Inregard to Section 9(c), the criticism of the bill from the securities
industry was unanimous, uniform, and high-pitched. For exarmple, the
president of the Associaed Stock Exchanges tedified before the Senate
Banking and Currency Committee (Senate Committee):

This subsection [9(c)] is so vague and inadequate for the
purpose evidently intended to beaccomplished that it should
bestricken out initsentirety. To alowit toremainleavesin
the hands of the commission a weapon with which that body

33Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, Securities Exchange Bill of 1934,
H.R. Rep. No. 73-1383, at 6-7 (1934), reprinted in 1 FEDERAL SECURITIESLAWS: LEGISLATIVE
HisToRyY 1933-1982, at 794, 799-800 (1983). The House Report reads in pertinent part:

The constitutional significanceof the wide dd egation of powers to the Federal

Reserve Board and to the Federal Trade Commission, which would administer

the act, has been considered with particular care—and the delegation made only

with the indication of such maximum standards for discretion as, in the

considered judgment of the Committee, the technical character of theproblems

to be dealt with would permit. The bill legislates specifically, just asfar asthe

Committee feelsit can. . . . In afield where practices constantly vary and where

practices legitimate for some purposes may be turned to illegitimate and

fraudulent means, broad discretio nary power sin the administrative agency have

been found practically essential, despite thedesire of the Committeeto limit the

discretion of the administrative agencies so far as compatible with workable

legislation.
1d. at 799-800.

%414, (emphasis added).

¥5Amazon Petroleum Corp.v. Railroad Commn of Tex., 5 F.Supp. 639, 640 (E.D. Tex.
1934).

3%6A . L.A. Schechter Poultry Corp.v. United States, 295 U.S. 495, 539-42 (1935); Panama
Ref. Co. v. Ryan, 293 U.S. 388, 431-33 (1935).
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might determine upon anything as being detrimental to the
public interest or to the proper protection of investors.®’

Inasimilar vein, the president of the New Y ork Exchange testified before
the Senate Committee:

The final subsection [9(c)] giving the Federal Trade
Commission [later changed to the SEC] unlimited power to
make unlawful any device or contrivance which it may
determineis detrimental to the publicinterest, isasurprising
delegation of power, particularly as any violation of therules
or regulations of the Commission would be a criminal act
which might result in heavy fines and imprisonment.®*®

Given thetone of thiscritici sm, both the Senae and the Housebills
were amended to add thequalifying term "manipuative."*** The criticism
did not abate. After the amendment, the attorney for the New Y ork Stock
Exchange testified before the Senate Committee:

We suggest that section 9 be omitted entirely . .. . Asto
subsection (c), which seemed to be a general grant of power
to the Commission to define asa crime any practice which
they thought was manipulative, it seemed to us to be an
altogether too broad grant of power to any administrative
body. It is a criminal provision there, which the Federal
Trade Commission might, by rule or regulation, interpret in
common practice, and suddenly announce that it was a
violation of that, subjecting the violator to 10 yearsinjail . It
seemed to us to be gaing a little far, and we suggest its
omission in toto.**®

%7Stock Exchange Practices: Hearings on S. Res. 84 (72nd Cong.) and S. Res. 56 and
S. Res 97 (73d Cong.) Before the Senate Banking and Cumency Committeg 73d Cong. 6988
(1934) (statement of EugeneE. Thompson, President, Associated Stock Exchanges, Washington,
D.C)).

3814 at 6634 (statement of Richard Whitney, President, New Y ork Stock Exchange); see
also id. at 6910 (statement of Frank R. Hope, President, Association of Stock Exchange Fimms,
New Y ork City): "The last subdivision of this section [9] giving them [FTC] control over devices
and contrivances might be construed to mean almost anything."

¥95ee H.R. 8720, 73d Cong. § 9 (c) (1934); see S. 3420, 73d Cong. § 10(b) (1934).

360stock Exchange Practices: Hearings on S. Res. 84 (72nd Cong.) and S. Res. 56 and
S. Res97 (73d Cong.) Beforethe Senate Banking and Currency Committee, 73d Cong. 7561-7562
(1934) (statement of Roland L. Redmond, Attorney for New Y ork Stock Exchange) (emphasis
added)
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Apparently out of constitutional concerns, the House Committee withdrew
Section 9(c) initsentirety from the bill,*** and the full House passed the bill
without 9(c) >*

The Senate Committee continued to work on the language of 9(c).
A proposed amend ment was submitted by aspokesperson for the Roosevelt
Administration, Assistant Secretary of Commerce, John C. Dickinson
(Dickinson) ** Hesuggested "deceptive" be substituted for "manipul ative'
in the phrase "manipulative deviceor contrivance," thelanguage in the bill
then under consideration by the Senate Committee.*** Dickinson believed
the change was necessary because, in hisjudgment, "manipulative'" was so
vague a standard that Section 9(c) was unconstitutional. His suggestionto
revise Section 9(c) read:

Section 9c gives to the Commission power to forbid the use
of any "manipulative' device or contrivance which the
Commission may find detrimental to thepublic interest. The
word "manipulative” is extremely vague and in my opinion
supplies no adequate standard for the Commission to act
upon. Some word or words should be used which more
specifically indicates [sic] the nature of the evil designed to
be rectified. | suggest that the word "deceptive" be
substituted for "manipulative” inline3on Page27and alsoin
the heading of Section 9in line 10 of Page 26. It would not
be in my opinion for Constitutional purposes a sufficiently
clear standard to outlaw any device which the Commission
may find "detrimental to the public interest."**®

1steve Thel, The Original Conception of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act,
42 STAN. L. REv. 385, 455 n.325 (1990).

%2H.R. 9323, 73d Cong. § 9 (1934).

33Thel, supra note 361, at 417; John Dickinson, Report to Secretary of Commerce of
Committee on Stock Exchange Regulation, reprinted in 5 LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND SECURITIES EXCHANGE AcT oF 1934, at 3 (compiled by J.S.
Ellenberger & Ellen P. Mahar, 1973). Dickinson had previously chaired a distinguished
committee for the Department of Commerce that studied the need for an exchange act. His
committee's report was sent to President Roosevelt, who in turn forwarded it to the Senate.
"Senate Committee" refersto the SenateBanking and Currency Committee. Thel, supra note 361,
at 417-18.

%4See Thel, supra note 361, at 453 nn.312-16. This article establishes Dickinson was
the source of the amendment to H.R. 8720 that added the term "deceptive." See id.

%M emorandum, Suggested Amendments to HR. 8720 Submitted by John Dickinson,
AssistantSecretary of Commerce (Mar. 30, 1934) (on filewith the Harvard Law School L ibrary,
James McCauley Landis Papers, box 1, file 7) (emphasis added).
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The Senate Committee,**° and later Congressitself, did half what Dickinson
asked. It added "deceptive" but did not delete "manipulative,” which
resulted in the phrase "manipulati ve or deceptivedevice or contrivance” in
the final text of Section 10(h).**’

Accordingly, the legislative history of Section 10(b) warrants the
most liberal interpretation of the term "deceptive" in the phrase
"manipulati ve or deceptive device or contrivance." Congresssintent may
bestated: "deceptive" wasadded to thetext of Section 10(b) so that section
would not be an unlawful delegation of Congressional power. Therefore,
in applying congress's will, the court should not define "deception” so
broadly that it renders Section 10(b) unconstitutional. Shart of that, the
term should be interpreted consistently with Congresss intent to delegate
the broadest authority to the SEC to pronulgate rules, such as Rule 10b-5,
to deter and punish securities fraud.

The congressional testimony of ThomasG. Corcoran (Carcoran), "a
spokesman for the drafters,"**® also supports the application of Section
10(b) to deceptive conduct. The Supreme Court hasrecognized Corcoran's
testimony as the "most relevant exposition of the provision that was to
become § 10(b)."**° In February 1934, Corcoran testified before the House
Committeeto the scopeand purpose of Section 9(c) of the original bill that
would later become Section 10(b): "Thou shalt not devise any other
cunning devices."*"® He continued, " Of course subsection (¢) isacatch-all
clause to prevent manipulative devices. . . . The Commission shoul d have
the authority to deal with new manipulative devices."** Since Corcoran
testified before the word " deceptive" was added to thetext of Section 9(c),
thefinal version would be more aptly characterized as"acatch-all clause”
designed to deal "with new manipulative or deceptive devices."*"

Corcoran's use of theterms "other cunning devices' and "catch-all"
clarifies Section 10(b)'s place in the statutory arsenal. Section 10(b) was
intended to reach future variants of the fraudulent and manipulative
practices specifically prohibited by the 1934 Act. Accordingly, the reach
of Section 10(b) istied to the reach of the other provisionsin the Act that
prohibit manipulative or deceptive practices If the latter apply to
manipulative and deceptive conduct as well as mideading words, Section

%6See Thel, supra note 361, a 453 nn.312-16.

%7See H.R. 9323, 73d Cong. § 10(b) (1934).

38See Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 202 (1976).

39Gee id.

S70stock Exchange Regulation Hearings on H.R. 7852 and H.R. 8720 before the House
Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, 73d Cong. 115 (1934) (emphasis added).

571d. (emphasis added).

$72See id.
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10(b) must do the same or fal in itsrole as a "catchrall.” In this light,
Section 18 of the 1934 Act applies to deceptive conduct as well as
misleading words, reaching acts that cause misleading statements to be
included in SEC filings. Likewise, Section 9 appliesto both conduct and
misleading words.*”® Therefore, for Section 10(b) to fulfill its role as a
"catch-all," it must also apply to deceptive conduct as well as deceptive
words.

E. Replacing the Failed "Policy Considerations"
of Blue Chip Stamps

The fraud-free zone exists because the Rehnquist majority
overlooked oneinherent quality of fraud: itsever-changingform. Asfraud
changes form, it moves beyond the reach of statutes and regulations too
tightly drafted or toostrictly interpreted. 1nthe contextof Enron, asclassic
accounting fraud morphs into Chewco, it steps beyond the reach of the
antifraud provisions too tightly drawn by the Rehnquist mgjority.

Four decades ago, beforethe Rehnquist mgj ority, the Supreme Court
had a better grasp of thisinherent quality of securities fraud: the ability to
change itsform. InSEC v. Capital Gains, the Court recognized, "'general
and flexible' antifraud provisions. . . have long been considered necessary
to control 'the versatile inventions of fraud-doers."*™ It quoted from an
eighteenth century English judge who could be describing Barclayss
alleged use of Chewco:

Fraud isinfinite, and were a Court of Equity onceto lay down
rules, how far they would go, and no farther, in extending
their relief against it, or to define strictly the species or
evidence of it, the jurisdiction would be cramped, ad
perpetually eluded by new schemes which the fertility of
man's invention would contrive.®”

Capital Gains relied on achain of authority that linked thisprinciple
back to the jurisprudence of ancient Rome. Capital Gains borrowed the

3730f the nine types of practices prohibited by subsection 9(a) and (b), only subsection
9(a)(4) is limited to misleading words. The other eight categories prohibit dfferent types of
conduct. See Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78i (West 1997).

S7SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 199 (1963) (quoting
Stonemetsv. Head, 154 SW. 108, 114 (Mo. 1913)).

$5Capital Gains, 375 U.S. at 193 n.41 (quoting Letter from Lord Hardwicke to Lord
Kames (June 30,1759), printed in J. PARKES, HISTORY OF THE COURT OF CHANCERY 508 (1828),
quoted in E. SNELL, PRINCIPLES OF EQUITY 496 (25th ed. 1960)).



506 DELAWARE JOURNA L OF CORPORATE LAw [Vol. 28

phrase "versdtile inventions of fraud-doers' from the Missouri Supreme
Court, which explained in Stonemets v. Head why fraud must be defined
flexibly: "Fraud being infinite and taking on protean form a will, were
courtsto cramp themselves by defining it with a hard and fast definition,
their jurisdictionwould be cunningy circumvented at once by new schemes
beyond the definition."*"® Stonemets cited an earlier decision of the same
court, Howard v. Scott,*”” which suggested, in colorful prose, why fraud
must be undefined*® Howard borrowed this notion from an early
nineteenthcentury treatise.®”® That treatisetraced the principle—aflexible
law to adapt to the changing form of fraud—back to its origin in ancient
Rome.**° Over time Roman jurists, from Cicero to Labeo, had a hand in
refining the definition of fraud.*®* Itslast and "true" iteration, from more
than 2,000 years ago, seemsto blend Rule 10b-5 and Section 10(b). Under

3%8Stonemets, 154 S.W. at 114. The court noted thefar-reaching potential of fr aud when
it stated:
Fraud iskaleidoscopic, infinite. Fraud beinginfiniteand taking on protean form
at will, were courts to cramp themselves by defining it with a hard and fast
definition, their jurisdiction would be cunningly cir cumvented at once by new
schemes beyond the definition. Messieurs, the fraud-feasors, would like nothing
half so well asfor courts to say they would go thus far, and no further in its
pursuit. Accordingly definitions of fraud are of set purpose left general and
flexible, and thereto caurtsmatch their astutenessagainsttheversatileinventions
of fraud-doers
Id. (citations omitted)
377]d.
3"8The Howard court explained "fraud" was left undefined by wisest of jurists:
What is fraud? No statute and no judge has been so daring and unwise as to
defineit by hard and fast rules. That pre-eminent jurist who "perfected English
equity into a symmetrical science," who is deemed by no less an authority than
Lord Campbell "the most consummate judge who ever sa in the court of
chancery," Lord Chancellor Hardwicke, he who as the lad, Phillip Y orke was
designed by his pious Presbyterian mother for some "honester tradée' than the
profession of an attorney (she longingto "see his head wag in the pulpit") who
gave his "days and nights to the volumes of Addison" in acquiring aluminous
and chaste style, and at the bar with unremittingtoil and pains, superadded to a
happy temperament and facile and receptive mind, informed and grounded
himself in all essentialstowisdom, learning and virtue on thewoolsack, so that
his administration on that judgment seat is "fondly looked back upon as the
golden age of equity," laid down the precept, never since departed from, that
fraud should be left undefined.
Howard v. Scott, 125 S.W. 1158, 1165 (Mo. 1910) (emphasis added).
379See id.; see 1 JOSEPH STORY, LL.D, COMMENTARIES ON EQUITY JURISPRUDENCE AS
ADMINISTERED IN ENGLAND ANDAMERICA 185 (12th ed. 1877). The case cites the 13th edition,
which was unavailable.
%0STORY, supra note 379, & 185.
BlSee id.
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Roman law, fraud was defined "to be any cunning deception, or artifice,
used to circumvent, cheat, or deceive another."#2

The economic and financial collapse that began in 1929 taught the
73rd Congress why the Romans defined fraud soliberally. In explaining
the need for the delegation of broad rule-making authority to the SEC, the
House Report on the 1934 Act explained:

In afield wherepractices constantly vary and wherepractices
legitimate for some purposes may be turned to illegitimate
and fraudulent means, broad discretionary powers in the
administrative agency have been found practically essential,
despite the dedre of the Committee to limit the discretion of
the administrative agencies so far as compatible with
workable legislation.®®

Inasimilar vein, the Senate report aso spoke to the need for flexibility in
the antifraud provisions:

The [Clommittee hasrepeatedly heard testimony illustrating
the evasions, suppressions, distortions, exaggerations, and
outright misrepresentations practiced by corporations with
intent to cloak their operations and to present to the investing
public a fase or misleading appearance as to financial
condition . . . . Many other instances of "wi ndow-dressing"
wereobserved, whereinexcusable methodswere empl oyed to
inflate assets, obscure liabilities, and conceal deficits®

What Congress, Corcoran, the Missouri Supreme Court, Lord
Chancellor Hardwicke, and Cicero all grasped, and the Rehnquist majority
forgot, is the ingenuity of those who commit fraud. Congress saw a
spectrum of wrongdoing, ever-changing, comprised of deception at one
end, manipulation at the other, and the two overlapping somewhere in the
middle. To the extent the Constitution would permit, it delegated the
authority to the SEC to adapt the law to these dynamics.

The Rehnquist majority, on the other hand, saw manipulation and
deception as two narrow and static bands on the conduct spectrum. For
twenty-one years, it conformed the antifraud provisions to this vision.

®2n its origina Latin: "Dolum malum esse omnem calliditatem, fallaciam,
machinationem ad circumveniendum, fallendum, decipiendum alterum, adhibitam." See id.

%3H.R. No. 73-1383, at 6-7 (1934).

343, Rep. No. 73-792, at 11 (1934).
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When the majority was done, the law wore shackles. Attorneys,
accountants, and investment banks were licensed to help their clients
commit fraud.

Corporate scandals, the recent market collgpse, and the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act certifythe"policy considerations' of Blue Chip Stamps afailure.
Enron may be thevehicle for the Court to substitute the policy that guided
the 73rdCongress—to protect theinvestor—for the" policy considerations”
of Blue Chip Stamps—to protect the S& P 500. It istime for the Court to
reconsider Justice Blackmun's dissent in Blue Chip Stamps: "[T]he Court
exhibits a preternatural solicitousness for corporate well-being and a
seeming callousness toward the investing public quite out of kegping, it
seems to me, with our own traditions and the intent of the securities
laws."3%

VI. CoNncLUSION

The Supreme Court has created a haven for expertise and money
ready to help others commit fraud. Attorneysand accountants, someof the
best, are the expertise. Financial institutions, some of the largest, are the
money. These two elements need only a generous risk taker, someone
willing to commit fraud for profit. The candidate must be risk-tolerant
becausefraudisrisky business and generous because the services of money
and expertise do not come cheap. Such risk takershave never been scarce.
Hence, solong asthefraud-free zoneisopen, fraudisinevitable. Whenthe
largest financial institutions and some of the most sophisticated lawyers
and accountants help conceiveand execute the fraud, asthey allegedly did
with Enron,*¢ its magnitude may be breathtaking.

The73rd Congressnever contempl ated the SEC would aloneenforce
theantifraud provisions. It alsoarmed amilitiato help with thetask. Bath
the 1933 and 1934 Acts contain express provisions allowing injured
investorsto bring civil actions to recover their losses. The courtsimplied
other civil remedies. Those lawsuits curb the greed of money, expertise
and risk takersin twoways. First, by bringing the business practices of the
enterprise (money-expertise-risk taker) into the sunshine, investor lawsuits
raise the risk of enforcement proceedings by the SEC or criminal charges
by federal or state prosecutors. Second, and moredirectly, they make the
enterpriseless profitableto the extent that investorsrecover their losses®’

%Blue Chip Sampsv. Maror Drug Stares, 421 U.S 723, 762 (1975) (Blackmun, J.,
dissenting).

¥6See supra Section 11.

%7See Dooley, supra note 137, a 836.
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Before Blue Chip Stamps and its progeny "fixed" the antifraud
provisions, it was commonly accepted that private lawsuits deterred
securities fraud. [ronically, this point is forcefully made by one of the
authorities cited by the Supreme Court in Blue Chip Stamps in support of
itsnew "policy considerations."**® Applyinga"cost-berefit analysis," the
author explainshow private lawsutsunder Section 10(b), beforeBlue Chip
Stamps, caused issuers and underwriters to improve the accuracy of
information disclosed to the public:

If the costs of inadequate information are imputed to
issuersand underwriters, they will beinduced to improve the
quality of information they supply in prospectuses, up to the
point at which the benefit to be derived from reducingthe risk
of liability by theinclusion or verification of one more item
of information i s equal to the cost of including or verifying
that information. If the marginal cost o improving the
information is less than the marginal benefit from avoiding
the corresponding risk of liability, the issuers and
underwriterswill improve the information; and vice versa.®*°

A corollary to the author's reasoning may be stated: if the liability cost for
inaccurateinformationisnot imputed to i ssuersand underwriters, they will
not incur the cost to make the prospectus factually accurate.

The 1933 and 1934 Acts seemed to be working well enough over
their first forty years. The marketstook their bumps, but they were caused
by, not the cause of, economic events. The collapse of the financial
marketsin 2000 wasits own doing, the burst of abubblethat began toform
in 1995. One year before that bubble began to inflate, Central Bank
declaredthefraud-freezoneopenfor business. Attorneys, accountants, and
banks could help public companies cheat their investors and not worry
about pesky lawsuits, so long as they stayed within the brightly lit
boundaries of the fraud-free zone. The SEC, which had never investigated
a Chewco-style fraud, posed little risk for Enron's accountants and
attorneys, and no risk for its banks, thanks to a gap in the regulatory
system.39°

No one knew better than Ferdinand Pecora (Pecora) what would
happen if money and expertise broke free from the constraints of the 1933
and 1934 Acts. Pecora was chief counsel for the Senate Committee that

%8Blue Chip Stamps, 421 U.S. at 740 (citing Dooley, supra note 137, at 836).
39See Dooley, supra note 137, & 836.
¥0See supra text accompanying note 264.
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drafted the 1933 and 1934 Acts, including the key operative language of
Section 10(b).*** His detailed cross-examination of powerful bankers,
brokers, and industrialists before the Senate Committee revealed the very
ills the 1933 and 1934 Acts were designed to cure®** Those hearings
eventually were namedafter him, the PecoraHearings.**® Reflecting years
later, Pecorawarned in his opening wards in Wall Street under Oath:

Under the surface of the governmertal regulation of the
securities market, the same forces that produced the riotous
speculative excesses of the "wild bull market" of 1929 ill
give evidences of their existence and influence. Though
repressed for the presert, it cannot be doubted that, given a
suitable opportunity, they would spring back into pernicious
activity.

Frequently we are told that this regulation has been
throttling the country's prosperity. Bitterly hogile was Wall
Street to the enactment of the regulatory | egidation. It now

*1pecoraserved aschief counsel to the Senate Committee on Banking and Currency from
January 1933 to July 1934, the period during which the 1933 and 1934 Acts passed through the
Committee and were enacted by the Congress. See FERDINAND PECORA, WALL STREET UNDER
OATH: THE STORY OF OUR MODERN MONEY CHANGERS 3 (1939), reprinted by Augustus M. Kelly
(1968).

%92CynthiaA. Williams, The Securities and Exchange Commission and Corporate Social
Transparency, 112 HARv. L. REv. 1197, 1224-26 (1999).

[Flrom January 24, 1933, through May 4, 1934, with full press coverage, Mr.

Pecora conducted a painstakingly detailed cross-examination of the country's

most respected bankers, brokers, and indudrialigs, producing evidence of a

plethora of problems. In particular, the hearings found evidence of the

following: unsound credit practices |eading to excess specul ation inthe markets;

manipulative devices used by pools, such as wash sales, matched orders, and

short sales, all of which produced afalse impression of market activity and/or

manipulated or depressed the prices of the securities; unfair or manipulative

market activities by insiders and directors; various deceptive and manipulative

devices used during the underwriting of securities, including a lack of full

disclosure of the underlying facts concerning the companies whose sec urities

were being sold; monopolistic practices by investment banks; and unfair

practices, such as the use of "preferred lists" for distributing securities.”
Id.

3%Adam Clymer, The Nation: Hearing One Tree; Never Have So Many Missed the
Forest, N.Y.TIMES, Feb. 10,2002, §4, at 6 ("The most striking past invegigations of business
were the "money trust" probein 1912 and 1913 . . . and the stock market investigation of 1932
to 1934 (unique among Congressional probes because it is not named after a chairman, but after
its chief counsel, Ferdinand Pecora."); Williams, supra note 392, at 1123-24 ("These hearings,
referred to as the Pecora hearings after Ferdi nand Pecor a, the chief counsel hired shortly after
Roosevelt's el ection, produced extensive evidence of market manipulation by corporate officers
and investment bankers.").
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looks forward to the day when it shall, asit hopes, reassume
the reigns of its former power. .. .

The public, however, is sometimes forgetful. Asits
memory of the unhappy market cdlapse of 1929 becomes
blurred, it may lend at |least one ear to the persuasive voices
of The Street subtly pleading for a return to the "good old
times."3%

Pecora got it right with one caveat: The Supreme Court, not the public,
would warm to the message that the antifraud provisions were "throttling
thecountry'sprosperity.” Whenthe Court dismantled thoselaws, as Pecara
predicted, the "same forces that produced the riotous speculative excesses
of the 'wild bull market' of 1929 . . . [sprang] back into pernicious
activity."*®

39PeCoRA, supra note 391, at ix-X.
3974, at ix.



